
Vestavia Hills  
City Council Agenda 

April 14, 2014 
5:00 PM 

 

1. Call to Order 
2. Roll Call 
3. Invocation – Samuel Bryant, Vestavia Primitive Baptist Church 
4. Pledge of Allegiance 
5. Announcements, Candidate and Guest Recognition 
6. Proclamation – Day of Prayer and Thanksgiving – April 29, 2014 
7. Proclamation – PowerTalk21 Day – April 21, 2014 
8. City Manager’s Report 
9. Councilors’ Reports –  

a. Board of Education Applications & Interview Schedule – John Henley 
10. Presentation – Child Care Resources; Joan Wright, Executive Director 
11. Approval of Minutes – March 18, 2014 (Special Meeting), March 20, 2014 (Work 

Session) and March 24, 2014 (Regular Meeting) 

Old Business 

12. Resolution Number 4569 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 3700 Altadena Circle; Lot 8, 
Ridge Forest; Ralph and Alison McCall, Owners  (public hearing)  

13. Ordinance Number 2486 – Annexation – Overnight - 3700 Altadena Circle; Lot 8, Ridge 
Forest; Ralph and Alison McCall, Owners   (public hearing)  

14. Resolution Number 4570 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 4668 Caldwell Mill Road; 
Layne and Amy Savoie, Owners   (public hearing) 

15. Ordinance Number 2487 – Annexation – Overnight – 4668 Caldwell Mill Road; Layne 
and Amy Savoie, Owners   (public hearing) 

16. Resolution Number 4571 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2640 Dolly Ridge Road; 
Willard and Ruth Bowers, Owners   (public hearing) 

17. Ordinance Number 2488 – Annexation – Overnight – 2640 Dolly Ridge Road; Willard 
and Ruth Bowers, Owners   (public hearing) 

18. Resolution Number 4572 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 3548 Valley Circle; Lot 12, 
Block 3, Dolly Ridge Estates, 2nd Addition; Benjamin and Carol Byrket, Owners   (public 
hearing) 



19. Ordinance Number 2489 – Annexation – Overnight - 3548 Valley Circle; Lot 12, Block 
3, Dolly Ridge Estates, 2nd Addition; Benjamin and Carol Byrket, Owners   (public 
hearing) 

20. Resolution Number 4573 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2760 Altadena Lake Drive; Lot 
3, Block 5, First Addition to Altadena Valley, Fifth Sector; Lynne R. Smitherman, 
Trustee, Owner  (public hearing) 

21. Ordinance Number 2490 – Annexation – Overnight – 2760 Altadena Lake Drive; Lot 3, 
Block 5, First Addition to Altadena Valley, Fifth Sector; Lynne R. Smitherman, Trustee, 
Owner (public hearing) 

22. Resolution Number 4574 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2468 Kenvil Circle; Lot 42, 
Buckhead, 2nd Sector; Tara Adams, Owner  (public hearing) 

23. Ordinance Number 2491 – Annexation – Overnight – 2468 Kenvil Circle; Lot 42, 
Buckhead, 2nd Sector; Tara Adams, Owner   (public hearing) 

24. Resolution Number 4575 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2400 Rocky Ridge Road; Lot 
105, Buckhead, 4th Sector; Michael and Donya Rumore, Owners   (public hearing) 

25. Ordinance Number 2492 – Annexation – Overnight – 2400 Rocky Ridge Road; Lot 105, 
Buckhead, 4th Sector; Michael and Donya Rumore, Owners   (public hearing) 

26. Resolution Number 4576 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2835 Acton Road; Lot 1, 
Adams Resurvey; Brantley Bowden, Owner   (public hearing) 

27. Ordinance Number 2493 – Annexation – Overnight - 2835 Acton Road; Lot 1, Adams 
Resurvey; Brantley Bowden, Owner   (public hearing) 

New Business  

28. Resolution Number 4578 – A Resolution Declining Execution Of An Agreement 
Between The Alabama 911 Board And The City Of Vestavia Hills 

29. Resolution Number 4579 – A Resolution To Continue The Present Premium Pay Policy 
Of The City Of Vestavia Hills 

30. Resolution Number 4583 – A Resolution Approving An 020-Restaurant Liquor License 
For Thirty One LLC D/B/A Thirty One; Edward Beard Webber, Executive 

31. Resolution Number 4584 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute and 
Deliver An Agreement With ALDOT To Repair, Resurface US-31 

32. Ordinance Number 2496 – An Ordinance To Provide For The Levying And Collection 
Of Municipal Taxes In Shelby County (Annual Tax Levy) 

33. Ordinance Number 2497 – An Ordinance To Provide For The Levying And Collection 
Of Municipal Taxes In Jefferson County (Annual Tax Levy) 



First Reading (No Action Taken At This Meeting) 

34. Ordinance Number 2494 – Rezoning – 1421 Round Hill Road; Lot 19, 5th Addition To 
Vesthaven, Sector 4; Rezone From Vestavia Hills R-2 (Residential) To Vestavia Hills 
Inst-1 (Institutional); City Of Vestavia Hills, Owner 

35. Ordinance Number 2495 – An Ordinance Granting A Conditional Use Approval For A 
120’ Stealth Monopole (Monopine) On Property Located At 2062 Columbiana Road; 
AT&T Petitioner; Davis Properties, LLC, Owner; N. Andrew Rotenstreich, Representing 

36. Resolution Number 4580 – A Resolution Authorizing The Mayor And City Manager To 
Enter Into An Agreement With Daniel Corporation As Master Developers Of Patchwork 
Farms 

37. Ordinance Number 2498 – An Ordinance Adopting And Enacting A New Municipal 
Code Of Ordinances For The City Of Vestavia Hills 

38. Citizens Comments  
39. Executive Session 
40. Motion For Adjournment 



 

 
 

                   PROCLAMATION 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
WHEREAS,  prayer is our communication with the Heavenly Father; and 
 
WHEREAS,  it  enables  mankind to give  thanks  for  the life we  sometimes  take  for 
                       granted; and 
  
WHEREAS,  prayer  seems  to soften our  sorrow  and  make our griefs and  hardships 
                       bearable; and 
 
WHEREAS, through  prayer we can be prepared  to become the instruments of His 
                       peace; and 
 
WHEREAS,  prayer is a  candle that can  rekindle the light that will repel the darkness 
                       in our midst; and 
 
WHEREAS,  by our unity  others may know that  we are one  with the Father  and His 
                       Son; and 
 
WHEREAS,  only  as  we are  filled with  the power of  God  can we do the things the 
                       Lord wants of us in any area of our lives; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the annual Mayor’s  Prayer  Breakfast will  be held Tuesday, April 29 at 
                       Vestavia Country Club; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr.  by virtue of the  authority vested in 
                       me as Mayor  of the  City of  Vestavia Hills in the State of Alabama, do 

hereby proclaim April 29, 2014 as a special 
 
                                    DAY  OF  PRAYER  AND  THANKSGIVING 
 

in  Vestavia Hills  and earnestly  call upon  all  men of faith and good- 
will  to  support  this  spiritual  effort so  that  together  we  may  offer 
prayer, praise and thanksgiving. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I 
have hereunto set my hand and 
caused the Seal of the City of 
Vestavia Hills to be affixed this 
the 14th day of April, 2014. 
 
 
__________________________ 
Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
Mayor 



 
 
 
 
 

                                      PROCLAMATION 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
WHEREAS,  the City of Vestavia Hills recognizes the importance of 
          parents talking with their teens about alcohol; and 
 
WHEREAS,  high  school  students  who  use  alcohol or other sub- 
          stances  are five  times  more  likely to  drop out  of 
          school or believe good grades are not important; and 
            
WHEREAS,  teen alcohol  use kills  about 5,000  people each year, 
          more than all other illegal drugs combined; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the majority  of children  say their parents  are their 
          primary  influence when  it comes  to  decisions  about 
          drinking alcohol; and 
 

WHEREAS,  PowerTalk 21
®
  Day is  established on April 21, 2014 to 

          encourage  parents and caregivers  to embrace their im- 
          portant role  in influencing  America’s youth and their 
          decisions about drinking alcohol; and 
 
WHEREAS,  to equip parents  to talk with  their teens about alco- 
          hol, on  April 21 Mothers Against Drunk Driving® (MADD) 
          Alabama will offer a free  community parent workshop to 
          give  parents the tools  in a parent handbook to effec- 
          tively talk to their teens about alcohol; and 
 
WHEREAS,   these local parent  workshops,  also replicated  across 
          the country, will offer parents a research-based parent 
          handbook to help them talk with their teens about alco- 
          hol and encourage  adults  to consider creating a safer 
          community  by  becoming  involved in reducing  underage 
          drinking; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I  Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. by  virtue of the au- 
          thority vested in  me as Mayor of  the City of Vestavia 
          Hills in the State of Alabama, do hereby proclaim April 
          21, 2014 as 

 
                                                        PowerTalk 21® Day  

 
           

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have 
hereunto set my hand and 
caused the Seal of the 
City of Vestavia Hills to 
be affixed this the 14th 
day of April, 2014. 
 

 

 
___________________________ 
Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
Mayor 



City Council Minutes 
Work Session 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

SPECIAL MEETING 
 

MINUTES 
 

MARCH 18, 2014 
 
 The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in work session on this date at 11:59 AM 
following posting/publishing pursuant to Alabama law.  The Mayor called the meeting to 
order and the City Clerk called the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Steve Ammons, Mayor Pro-Tem  
      George Pierce 

John Henley 
      Jim Sharp 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Dan Rary, Police Chief 
 
 The Mayor called the meeting to order and indicated this meeting is required by 
Alabama law in order to canvass the votes from the municipal election held on March 11, 
2014 for continuation of an existing school tax. 
 
 Mr. Henley led the invocation.  The Pledge of Allegiance followed. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2484 
 
Ordinance Number 2484 – An Ordinance Canvassing And Declaring The Results Of 

A Special Municipal Election Held In The City Of Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama, On Tuesday, March 11, 2014, Regarding A Property Tax 
For Public School Purposes 

 
The Mayor opened the floor for unanimous consent for the immediate 

consideration and action on Ordinance Number 2484. 
 
MOTION Motion for unanimous consent for the immediate consideration and action 

on Ordinance Number 2484 was by Mr. Pierce and second was by Mr. 
Ammons.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  



City Council Minutes 
Work Session 

Page 2 
 

   Mr. Sharp – yes   Mr. Ammons – yes    
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   motion carried. 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2484 was by Mr. Henley and 

second was by Mr. Sharp. 
 
 Mr. Henley gave the official results of the election held on March 11, 2014.  He 
stated that there were five provisional votes sent to the Board of Registrars.  The Board of 
Registrars has completed its investigation into the ballots and determined that none of 
them should be counted.  Therefore, the tentative totals calculated on the night of the 
election are the true results.  There were 1715 votes in favor of continuation of the tax 
with 163 against said continuation.  This is the official canvass as reflected in the 
Ordinance. 
 
 There being no further discussion, the Mayor opened the floor for a public 
hearing.  There was no one present to address the Council regarding this issue.  The 
Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes   Mr. Ammons – yes    
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   motion carried. 
 
 

CITIZENS COMMENTS 
 
 There was no one present to address the Council. 
 
 Mr. Downes gave a quick update on the proposed process for tag renewals 
beginning April 1 and the Council discussed whether a new employee should be retained 
to handle the renewals. 
 

Meeting adjourned at 12:20 PM. 
 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
Attested by: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



City Council Minutes 
Work Session 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

MINUTES 
 

MARCH 20, 2014 
 
 The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in a regularly scheduled work session on 
this date at 4:30 PM following posting/publishing pursuant to Alabama law.  The Mayor 
called the work session to order and the acting City Clerk checked the roll with the 
following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Steve Ammons, Mayor Pro-Tem  
      George Pierce 
      John Henley 
      Jim Sharp 
 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Dan Rary, Police Chief 
      Jim St. John, Fire Chief 
      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
      George Sawaya, Deputy Finance Director 
      Bo Seagrist, Business License  
 
 The Mayor called the work session to order. 
 
 Mr. Pierce gave an update on the volunteer drug testing program about to kick off 
in the schools.  He stated that parents pay $40 and with signed permission of the student 
and the parents, students are guaranteed a minimum of two drug tests per year.  At the 
end of their senior year, the student is given a certificate showing that all testing has 
come back negative.  He introduced David Howard who explained the program in more 
detail and answered questions posed by the Council. 
 
 The Mayor gave an update on the car tag renewal process and introduced 
representatives from Ingenuity to explain the process of renewal in detail and answer 
questions that the Council might have concerning the process, the fees, etc. 
 
 Mr. Downes gave an update on a grant application for the City. 
 



City Council Minutes 
Work Session 

Page 2 
 

MOTION Motion to adjourn was by Mr. Pierce and second was by Mr. Sharp.  
Meeting adjourned at 6:00 PM. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
 
Attested by: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



City Council Minutes 
March 24, 2014, 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

MARCH 24, 2014 
 
 The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 5:00 PM.  
The Mayor called the meeting to order and the City Clerk called the roll with the 
following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Steve Ammons, Mayor Pro-Tem  

George Pierce  
John Henley 

      Jim Sharp 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
      George Sawaya, Deputy Treasurer 
      Phillip Barnes; Battalion Chief 
      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
      Tim Holcomb, Deputy Police Chief 
 
 Invocation was given by Pastor John Turner, Shades Mountain Baptist Church.  
The Pledge of Allegiance followed invocation led by Howard and Kyle Fox, Cesar 
Cyenca and Hyrum Monvoy, Scouts from Troop 110. 

 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION 
 

• David Wheeler, 2532 Crossgate Place, introduced himself and declared that he is 
a candidate for State House District 47.   

• Steve Ammons announced that he is a candidate for Jefferson County Tax 
Collector in the upcoming election. 

• Mr. Ammons welcomed Tommy Coggins, Vice President of the Park and 
Recreation Board to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
March 24, 2014, 

Page 2 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 
 The Mayor presented a Proclamation designating April 2014 as “Donate Life 
Month.”  Mr. Downes read the Proclamation and expressed the constant need for organ 
donations to save lives. 
 

CITY MANAGER REPORT 
 

• Mr. Downes gave an update on the progress of the new City Hall including the 
bidding for demolition of the existing structures which will be presented to the 
Council later in the meeting. 

• Mr. Downes announced that a community meeting will be hosted at the Municipal 
Center this Friday at 5 PM to allow residents of the area to learn about the 
proposed demolition, construction traffic, etc. 

• The development of Patchwork Farms is continuing and soon there will be an 
update on a proposed contract with a master developer and possible relocation of 
the proposed rehabilitation facility. 

 
 

COUNCILOR REPORTS 
 

• Mr. Henley stated that the Council is currently receiving applications for an 
upcoming vacancy on the Vestavia Hills Board of Education.  He stated that the 
deadline to submit applications is April 14 which will be followed by an 
interview.  The new appointment will be announced on April 28.  He invited 
interested individuals to prepare and file an application as soon as it’s open. 

• Mr. Henley stated that the results of the Special Municipal Election for renewal of 
a School Tax on March 11, 2014 ended with a 91% approval for continuation of 
the tax. 

• Mr. Pierce gave an update and details of a voluntary drug testing program 
beginning upon enrollment in the next school year during registration.  He stated 
that it is an exciting program and is being met with a lot of positive enforcement. 

• The Mayor stated that the accreditation of the schools looks favorable and has 
been met with good community participation. 

• The Mayor gave an update on the demolition progress of the Vestavia Motor 
Lodge.  

 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 
 Mr. Turner presented the financial reports for the month ending February 2014.  
He read and explained the balances. 
 
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 



City Council Minutes 
March 24, 2014, 

Page 3 
 

 
 The minutes of the March 10, 2014 (Work Session) and March 10, 2014 (Regular 
Meeting) were presented for approval.   
 
MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of the meeting of 

March 10, 2014 (Work Session) and March 10, 2014 (Regular Meeting) 
and approve them as presented was by Mr. Ammons and second by Mr. 
Henley.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes   Mr. Ammons – yes    
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   motion carried. 
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4562 
 
Resolution Number 4562 - A Resolution Requesting Funding For Brand Extension 

Initiatives For The City Of Vestavia Hills    (public hearing) 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4562 was by Mr. Pierce and 

second was by Mr. Sharp. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this Resolution is the authorization to begin branding 
initiatives which has been a collaborative effort with the Chamber of Commerce based on 
the recommendations of a joint committee and outlined in a scope of work attached to the 
Resolution.  The committee has recommended retaining the consultant Tatum Designs to 
assist in the branding efforts.  He explained the details and the expenses involved by both 
City and Chamber outlined within the attached scope of work. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes   Mr. Ammons – yes    
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4563 
 
Resolution Number 4563 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To 

Purchase Field Signage For Fields At Sicard Hollow Athletic Complex   
(public hearing) 

 



City Council Minutes 
March 24, 2014, 

Page 4 
 

MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4563 was by Mr. Ammons and 
second was by Mr. Pierce. 

 
 Mr. Downes stated that this Resolution allows for signage at Sicard Hollow 
Athletic Complex in order to name various fields.  This expense is begin offset by a 
contribution from the Park Foundation as is the signage expense within the next 
Resolution. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes   Mr. Ammons – yes    
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4564 
 
Resolution Number 4564 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To 

Purchase A Monument Sign For Sicard Hollow Athletic Complex   
(public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4564 was by Mr. Ammons and 

second was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this Resolution allows the purchase and installation of a 
monument sign for Sicard Hollow Athletic Complex to replace the temporary sign 
located there now.  He indicated that all of the signage for branding will be reviewed by 
the consultants before being ordered. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address 
the Council on this matter, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes   Mr. Ammons – yes    
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
March 24, 2014, 

Page 5 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4577 
 
Resolution Number 4577 – A Resolution Establishing Iberia Bank As Depositor For 

Emergency Reserve Fund And Capital Projects Fund Accounts 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4577 was by Mr. Henley and 

second was by Mr. Sharp. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this Resolution allows the establishment of an account at 
Iberia Bank in order to move some of the City’s reserve funds for a better interest rate.  
He indicated that the City’s Finance Director periodically obtains quotes from area banks 
in order to maintain the highest earnings possible and has recommended this move. 
 
There being no further discussion on the matter, the Mayor called for the question.  Roll 

call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes   Mr. Ammons – yes    
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   motion carried. 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS (UNANIMOUS CONSENT REQUESTED) 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for unanimous consent for the immediate 
consideration and action of Resolution Number 4568 and Ordinance Number 2485. 
 
MOTION Motion for unanimous consent for the immediate consideration and action 

of Resolution Number 4568 and Ordinance Number 2485 was made by 
Mr. Ammons.  Second was by Mr. Pierce.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes   Mr. Ammons – yes    
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4568 
 
Resolution Number 4568 – A Resolution Accepting A Bid For Abatement And 

Demolition Of Buildings For Construction Of A New City Hall And 
Public Safety/Municipal Court Complex  (Public Hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4568 was by Mr. Ammons and 

second was by Mr. Pierce. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this Resolution accepts the lowest bid for demolition of 
the former Food World and Joe’s Ranch House in order to prepare for construction of a 



City Council Minutes 
March 24, 2014, 

Page 6 
 

new City Hall.  He stated that Tomlin was the lowest bidder and the construction 
management company has recommended approval of that bid package. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.   
 
 Tommy Coggin asked about maintenance of the fence throughout demolition and 
construction. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that fencing will be there throughout the project.  
 
 There being no one present to address the Council regarding this request, the 
Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes   Mr. Ammons – yes    
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2485 
 
Ordinance Number 2485 - An Ordinance Establishing A Local Issuance Fee For 

Renewal Of Automobile Tags In Vestavia Hills, Alabama    (public 
hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2485 was by Mr. Henley and 

second was by Mr. Sharp. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this Ordinance is needed in order to determine a 
convenience fee for the issuance of vehicle tags which is scheduled to begin in the City 
on April 1, 2014.  The law allows up to $5 and recommendation was made to charge that 
amount for issuance.  Mr. Downes gave the details on the planned implementation of the 
renewal process and indicated this was simply for renewals and for City residents only. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.   
 
 David Harwell, 1803 Carala Road, asked when the renewals will begin. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated it will begin April 1. 
 
 There being no one present to address the Council regarding this request, the 
Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes   Mr. Ammons – yes    
   Mayor Zaragoza – yes   motion carried. 
 



City Council Minutes 
March 24, 2014, 

Page 7 
 

 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 The Mayor stated that the following Resolutions and/or Ordinances will be 
presented at a public hearing at the Council’s next regularly scheduled meeting on April 
14, 2014 at 5 PM. 

• Resolution Number 4569 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 3700 Altadena Circle; 
Lot 8, Ridge Forest; Ralph and Alison McCall, Owners  (public hearing)  

• Ordinance Number 2486 – Annexation – Overnight - 3700 Altadena Circle; Lot 
8, Ridge Forest; Ralph and Alison McCall, Owners   (public hearing)  

• Resolution Number 4570 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 4668 Caldwell Mill 
Road; Layne and Amy Savoie, Owners   (public hearing) 

• Ordinance Number 2487 – Annexation – Overnight – 4668 Caldwell Mill Road; 
Layne and Amy Savoie, Owners   (public hearing) 

• Resolution Number 4571 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2640 Dolly Ridge 
Road; Willard and Ruth Bowers, Owners   (public hearing) 

• Ordinance Number 2488 – Annexation – Overnight – 2640 Dolly Ridge Road; 
Willard and Ruth Bowers, Owners   (public hearing) 

• Resolution Number 4572 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 3548 Valley Circle; Lot 
12, Block 3, Dolly Ridge Estates, 2nd Addition; Benjamin and Carol Byrket, 
Owners   (public hearing) 

• Ordinance Number 2489 – Annexation – Overnight - 3548 Valley Circle; Lot 12, 
Block 3, Dolly Ridge Estates, 2nd Addition; Benjamin and Carol Byrket, Owners   
(public hearing) 

• Resolution Number 4573 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2760 Altadena Lake 
Drive; Lot 3, Block 5, First Addition to Altadena Valley, Fifth Sector; Lynne R. 
Smitherman, Trustee, Owner  (public hearing) 

• Ordinance Number 2490 – Annexation – Overnight – 2760 Altadena Lake Drive; 
Lot 3, Block 5, First Addition to Altadena Valley, Fifth Sector; Lynne R. 
Smitherman, Trustee, Owner (public hearing) 

• Resolution Number 4574 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2568 Kenvil Circle; Lot 
42, Buckhead, 2nd Sector; Tara Adams, Owner  (public hearing) 

• Ordinance Number 2491 – Annexation – Overnight – 2568 Kenvil Circle; Lot 42, 
Buckhead, 2nd Sector; Tara Adams, Owner   (public hearing) 

• Resolution Number 4575 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2400 Rocky Ridge 
Road; Lot 105, Buckhead, 4th Sector; Michael and Donya Rumore, Owners   
(public hearing) 

• Ordinance Number 2492 – Annexation – Overnight – 2400 Rocky Ridge Road; 
Lot 105, Buckhead, 4th Sector; Michael and Donya Rumore, Owners   (public 
hearing) 

• Resolution Number 4576 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2835 Acton Road; Lot 
1, Adams Resurvey; Brantley Bowden, Owner   (public hearing) 

• Ordinance Number 2493 – Annexation – Overnight - 2835 Acton Road; Lot 1, 
Adams Resurvey; Brantley Bowden, Owner   (public hearing) 



City Council Minutes 
March 24, 2014, 

Page 8 
 

 
 

CITIZENS COMMENTS 
 
 David Harwell, 1803 Catala Road, stated that the City needs to review and study 
Montgomery Highway and alert ALDOT to the many needed repairs along the Highway 
along with the need to monitor and synchronize the traffic signals. 
 
 The Mayor stated that resurfacing of the Highway begins in June and the City has 
nothing to do with the maintenance of the Highway but would alert ALDOT of all 
problems and see if it helps. 
 
 Karen Odle stated that the Annual Mayor’s Prayer Breakfast will be held on April 
29, 2014 beginning at 7:30 AM at Vestavia Country Club.  This year’s keynote speaker is 
Lisa “Roxanne” Richardson. 
 
 The Mayor stated that the scheduled executive session for discussion of pending 
litigation has been postponed to a later date because the City’s attorney is out of town 
today. 
 
MOTION Motion to adjourn was by Mr. Pierce and second was by Mr. Henley.  

Meeting adjourned at 6:07 PM. 
 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
 
Attested by: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Resolution Number 4569 
Page 1 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 4569 

 
 A RESOLUTION PROPOSING THE ANNEXATION 

OF CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE CORPORATE 
LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA. 

 
 WHEREAS, there has been a petition filed with the City Clerk of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and herein presented to the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, dated February 3, 2014, wherein all owners of certain property 

contiguous to the City Limits of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, ask that their 

property be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, said Petition has been presented to the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on the 14th day of April, 2014; and 

 WHEREAS, it would be to the best interest of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, and to the citizens thereof to consider annexation of said territory and bringing 

it within the corporate limits of this Municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, said petitioners must comply with Act #604, 1970 Alabama 

Legislature regarding Fire Districts (property owners are to be responsible for fire dues if 

they are within another Fire District at the time of the annexation petition). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the said Petition shall be published one (1) time in The Birmingham 

News, a newspaper of general circulation in Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, 

on the 16th day of April, 2014. 

 2.  That on the 28th day of July, 2014, in the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, a 

public hearing will be held to determine the truths of the matter set forth in said petition 



Resolution Number 4569 
Page 2 

 
and to consider any protests or objections filed in writing with the City Clerk prior to 

such hearing, to determine whether it is in the public interest or not that said property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and to consider adoption of an Ordinance 

annexing the territory described in said petition to this Municipality. 

 3.  That this Resolution shall become known and referred to as Resolution 

Number 4569 by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and as 

annexation of the following described property by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

3700 Altadena Circle 
Lot 8, Ridge Forest 

Ralph and Alison McCall, Owner(s) 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution Number 4569 
Page 3 

 

 









RLeavings
Text Box
2/12/2014    C Brady











Ordinance Number 2486 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2486 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO ALTER, REARRANGE, AND EXTEND THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA, SO AS TO EMBRACE AND INCLUDE WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE AREA OF SAID CITY ALL TERRITORY NOW 
WITHIN SUCH CORPORATE LIMITS AND ALSO CERTAIN 
OTHER TERRITORY CONTIGUOUS TO SAID CITY. 

 
  WHEREAS, a certain petition signed by Ralph and Alison McCall dated 

February 3, 2014, that the property therein described be annexed to the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, together with a map of said territory showing its relationship to the 

corporate limits of the City, has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of Vestavia 

Hills; and 

  WHEREAS, this Council has determined and found that the matters set 

forth and alleged in said petition are true and correct, and that it is in the public interest 

that said territory be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills; 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION 1.  That said Council hereby assents to the annexation of said 

territory to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, the corporate limits of the City to be 

extended and rearranged pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 42, Article 2, 

Code of Alabama, 1975 (Sections 11-42-20 through 11-42-23, as amended) so as to 

embrace and include said territory, in addition to the territory already within its present 

corporate limits.  The new boundary line does not lie at any point more than half the 

distance between the old city boundary and the corporate boundary of any other 

municipality.  Said territory is described as follows: 

 

3700 Altadena Circle 
Lot 8, Ridge Forest 

Ralph and Alison McCall 
 

  SECTION 2.  That the City Clerk shall file a certified copy of this 

Ordinance containing an accurate description of said annexed territory with the Probate 



Ordinance Number 2486 
Page 2 

 
Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama, and also cause a copy of this Ordinance to be 

published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

  APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2486 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 



Ordinance Number 2486 
Page 3 

 

 



Resolution Number 4570 
Page 1 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 4570 

 
 A RESOLUTION PROPOSING THE ANNEXATION 

OF CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE CORPORATE 
LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA. 

 
 WHEREAS, there has been a petition filed with the City Clerk of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and herein presented to the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, dated January 8, 2014, wherein all owners of certain property contiguous 

to the City Limits of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, ask that their property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, said Petition has been presented to the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on the 14th day of April, 2014; and 

 WHEREAS, it would be to the best interest of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, and to the citizens thereof to consider annexation of said territory and bringing 

it within the corporate limits of this Municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, said petitioners must comply with Act #604, 1970 Alabama 

Legislature regarding Fire Districts (property owners are to be responsible for fire dues if 

they are within another Fire District at the time of the annexation petition). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the said Petition shall be published one (1) time in The Birmingham 

News, a newspaper of general circulation in Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, 

on the 16th day of April, 2014. 

 2.  That on the 28th day of July, 2014, in the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, a 

public hearing will be held to determine the truths of the matter set forth in said petition 

and to consider any protests or objections filed in writing with the City Clerk prior to 

such hearing, to determine whether it is in the public interest or not that said property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and to consider adoption of an Ordinance 

annexing the territory described in said petition to this Municipality. 

 3.  That this Resolution shall become known and referred to as Resolution 

Number 4570 by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and as 



Resolution Number 4570 
Page 2 

 
annexation of the following described property by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

4668 Caldwell Mill Road 
See Attached “Exhibit A” for Legal Description 

Layne and Amy Savoie, Owner(s) 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
4668 
 
More
 

 

Calwell Mi

e particularly

ll Road 

y described a

E

as follows: 

Exhibit A 

Resolutioon Number 457
Page

70 
e 3 

 



Resolution Number 4570 
Page 4 

 

 









RLeavings
Text Box
2/12/2014

RLeavings
Text Box
C Brady













Ordinance Number 2487 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2487 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO ALTER, REARRANGE, AND EXTEND THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA, SO AS TO EMBRACE AND INCLUDE WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE AREA OF SAID CITY ALL TERRITORY NOW 
WITHIN SUCH CORPORATE LIMITS AND ALSO CERTAIN 
OTHER TERRITORY CONTIGUOUS TO SAID CITY. 

 
  WHEREAS, a certain petition signed by Layne and Amy Savoie dated 

January 8, 2014, that the property therein described be annexed to the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, together with a map of said territory showing its relationship to the 

corporate limits of the City, has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of Vestavia 

Hills; and 

  WHEREAS, this Council has determined and found that the matters set 

forth and alleged in said petition are true and correct, and that it is in the public interest 

that said territory be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills; 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION 1.  That said Council hereby assents to the annexation of said 

territory to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, the corporate limits of the City to be 

extended and rearranged pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 42, Article 2, 

Code of Alabama, 1975 (Sections 11-42-20 through 11-42-23, as amended) so as to 

embrace and include said territory, in addition to the territory already within its present 

corporate limits.  The new boundary line does not lie at any point more than half the 

distance between the old city boundary and the corporate boundary of any other 

municipality.  Said territory is described as follows: 

4668 Caldwell Mill Road 
See Attached Exhibit A for Legal Description 

Layne and Amy Savoie 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2487 
Page 2 

 
  SECTION 2.  That the City Clerk shall file a certified copy of this 

Ordinance containing an accurate description of said annexed territory with the Probate 

Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama, and also cause a copy of this Ordinance to be 

published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

  APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2487 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 



 

 
4668 
 
More
 
 
 

Calwell Mi

e particularly

ll Road 

y described a

E

as follows: 

Exhibit A 

Ordinancce Number 248
Page

87 
e 3 

 



 
 

Ordinancce Number 248
Page

87 
e 4 

 

 



Resolution Number 4571 
Page 1 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 4571 

 
 A RESOLUTION PROPOSING THE ANNEXATION 

OF CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE CORPORATE 
LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA. 

 
 WHEREAS, there has been a petition filed with the City Clerk of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and herein presented to the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, dated February 6, 2014, wherein all owners of certain property 

contiguous to the City Limits of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, ask that their 

property be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, said Petition has been presented to the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on the 14th day of April, 2014; and 

 WHEREAS, it would be to the best interest of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, and to the citizens thereof to consider annexation of said territory and bringing 

it within the corporate limits of this Municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, said petitioners must comply with Act #604, 1970 Alabama 

Legislature regarding Fire Districts (property owners are to be responsible for fire dues if 

they are within another Fire District at the time of the annexation petition). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the said Petition shall be published one (1) time in The Birmingham 

News, a newspaper of general circulation in Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, 

on the 16th day of April, 2014. 

 2.  That on the 28th day of July, 2014, in the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, a 

public hearing will be held to determine the truths of the matter set forth in said petition 

and to consider any protests or objections filed in writing with the City Clerk prior to 

such hearing, to determine whether it is in the public interest or not that said property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and to consider adoption of an Ordinance 

annexing the territory described in said petition to this Municipality. 

 3.  That this Resolution shall become known and referred to as Resolution 

Number 4571 by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and as 



Resolution Number 4571 
Page 2 

 
annexation of the following described property by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

2640 Dolly Ridge Road 
See Attached Exhibit A for Legal Description 

Willard and Ruth Bowers, Owner(s) 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

 

 

EExhibit A 

Resolutioon Number 457
Page

71 
e 3 

 

 



Resolution Number 4571 
Page 4 

 

 



















Ordinance Number 2488 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2488 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO ALTER, REARRANGE, AND EXTEND THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA, SO AS TO EMBRACE AND INCLUDE WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE AREA OF SAID CITY ALL TERRITORY NOW 
WITHIN SUCH CORPORATE LIMITS AND ALSO CERTAIN 
OTHER TERRITORY CONTIGUOUS TO SAID CITY. 

 
  WHEREAS, a certain petition signed by Willard and Ruth Bowers dated 

February 6, 2014, that the property therein described be annexed to the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, together with a map of said territory showing its relationship to the 

corporate limits of the City, has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of Vestavia 

Hills; and 

  WHEREAS, this Council has determined and found that the matters set 

forth and alleged in said petition are true and correct, and that it is in the public interest 

that said territory be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills; 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION 1.  That said Council hereby assents to the annexation of said 

territory to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, the corporate limits of the City to be 

extended and rearranged pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 42, Article 2, 

Code of Alabama, 1975 (Sections 11-42-20 through 11-42-23, as amended) so as to 

embrace and include said territory, in addition to the territory already within its present 

corporate limits.  The new boundary line does not lie at any point more than half the 

distance between the old city boundary and the corporate boundary of any other 

municipality.  Said territory is described as follows: 

 
2640 Dolly Ridge Road 

See Attached Exhibit A for Legal Description 
Willard and Ruth Bowers 

 
  SECTION 2.  That the City Clerk shall file a certified copy of this 

Ordinance containing an accurate description of said annexed territory with the Probate 

Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama, and also cause a copy of this Ordinance to be 

published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 



Ordinance Number 2488 
Page 2 

 
  APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 

 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2488 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EExhibit A 

Ordinancce Number 248
Page

88 
e 3 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2488 
Page 4 

 
 

 



Resolution Number 4572 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4572 
 
 A RESOLUTION PROPOSING THE ANNEXATION 

OF CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE CORPORATE 
LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA. 

 
 WHEREAS, there has been a petition filed with the City Clerk of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and herein presented to the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, dated December 9, 2013, wherein all owners of certain property 

contiguous to the City Limits of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, ask that their 

property be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, said Petition has been presented to the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on the 14th day of April, 2014; and 

 WHEREAS, it would be to the best interest of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, and to the citizens thereof to consider annexation of said territory and bringing 

it within the corporate limits of this Municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, said petitioners must comply with Act #604, 1970 Alabama 

Legislature regarding Fire Districts (property owners are to be responsible for fire dues if 

they are within another Fire District at the time of the annexation petition). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the said Petition shall be published one (1) time in The Birmingham 

News, a newspaper of general circulation in Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, 

on the 16th day of April, 2014. 

 2.  That on the 28th day of July, 2014, in the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, a 

public hearing will be held to determine the truths of the matter set forth in said petition 

and to consider any protests or objections filed in writing with the City Clerk prior to 

such hearing, to determine whether it is in the public interest or not that said property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and to consider adoption of an Ordinance 

annexing the territory described in said petition to this Municipality. 

 3.  That this Resolution shall become known and referred to as Resolution 

Number 4572 by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and as 



Resolution Number 4572 
Page 2 

 
annexation of the following described property by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

3548 Valley Circle 
Lot 12, Block 3, Dolly Ridge Estates, 2nd Addition 

Benjamin and Carol Byrket, Owner(s) 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution Number 4572 
Page 3 

 

 









RLeavings
Text Box
2/12/2014

RLeavings
Text Box
C Brady













Ordinance Number 2489 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2489 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO ALTER, REARRANGE, AND EXTEND THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA, SO AS TO EMBRACE AND INCLUDE WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE AREA OF SAID CITY ALL TERRITORY NOW 
WITHIN SUCH CORPORATE LIMITS AND ALSO CERTAIN 
OTHER TERRITORY CONTIGUOUS TO SAID CITY. 

 
  WHEREAS, a certain petition signed by Benjamin and Carol Byrket 

dated December 9, 2013, that the property therein described be annexed to the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, together with a map of said territory showing its relationship to 

the corporate limits of the City, has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of Vestavia 

Hills; and 

  WHEREAS, this Council has determined and found that the matters set 

forth and alleged in said petition are true and correct, and that it is in the public interest 

that said territory be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills; 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION 1.  That said Council hereby assents to the annexation of said 

territory to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, the corporate limits of the City to be 

extended and rearranged pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 42, Article 2, 

Code of Alabama, 1975 (Sections 11-42-20 through 11-42-23, as amended) so as to 

embrace and include said territory, in addition to the territory already within its present 

corporate limits.  The new boundary line does not lie at any point more than half the 

distance between the old city boundary and the corporate boundary of any other 

municipality.  Said territory is described as follows: 

 
3548 Valley Circle 

Lot 12, Block 3, Dolly Ridge Estates, 2nd Addition 
Benjamin and Carol Byrket 

 
  SECTION 2.  That the City Clerk shall file a certified copy of this 

Ordinance containing an accurate description of said annexed territory with the Probate 

Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama, and also cause a copy of this Ordinance to be 

published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 



Ordinance Number 2489 
Page 2 

 
  APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2489 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2489 
Page 3 

 

 



Resolution Number 4573 
Page 1 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 4573 

 
 A RESOLUTION PROPOSING THE ANNEXATION 

OF CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE CORPORATE 
LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA. 

 
 WHEREAS, there has been a petition filed with the City Clerk of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and herein presented to the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, dated September 16, 2013, wherein all owners of certain property 

contiguous to the City Limits of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, ask that their 

property be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, said Petition has been presented to the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on the 14th day of April, 2014; and 

 WHEREAS, it would be to the best interest of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, and to the citizens thereof to consider annexation of said territory and bringing 

it within the corporate limits of this Municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, said petitioners must comply with Act #604, 1970 Alabama 

Legislature regarding Fire Districts (property owners are to be responsible for fire dues if 

they are within another Fire District at the time of the annexation petition). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the said Petition shall be published one (1) time in The Birmingham 

News, a newspaper of general circulation in Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, 

on the 16th day of April, 2014. 

 2.  That on the 28th day of July, 2014, in the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, a 

public hearing will be held to determine the truths of the matter set forth in said petition 

and to consider any protests or objections filed in writing with the City Clerk prior to 

such hearing, to determine whether it is in the public interest or not that said property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and to consider adoption of an Ordinance 

annexing the territory described in said petition to this Municipality. 

 3.  That this Resolution shall become known and referred to as Resolution 

Number 4573 by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and as 



Resolution Number 4573 
Page 2 

 
annexation of the following described property by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

2760 Altadena Lake Drive 
Lot 3, Block 5, First Addition to Altadena Valley, Fifth Sector 

Lynne R. Smitherman, Trustee, Owner(s) 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 



Resolution Number 4573 
Page 3 

 

 









RLeavings
Text Box
2/12/2014

RLeavings
Text Box
C Brady













Ordinance Number 2490 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2490 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO ALTER, REARRANGE, AND EXTEND THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA, SO AS TO EMBRACE AND INCLUDE WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE AREA OF SAID CITY ALL TERRITORY NOW 
WITHIN SUCH CORPORATE LIMITS AND ALSO CERTAIN 
OTHER TERRITORY CONTIGUOUS TO SAID CITY. 

 
  WHEREAS, a certain petition signed by  dated September 16, 2013, that 

the property therein described be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

together with a map of said territory showing its relationship to the corporate limits of the 

City, has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills; and 

  WHEREAS, this Council has determined and found that the matters set 

forth and alleged in said petition are true and correct, and that it is in the public interest 

that said territory be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills; 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION 1.  That said Council hereby assents to the annexation of said 

territory to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, the corporate limits of the City to be 

extended and rearranged pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 42, Article 2, 

Code of Alabama, 1975 (Sections 11-42-20 through 11-42-23, as amended) so as to 

embrace and include said territory, in addition to the territory already within its present 

corporate limits.  The new boundary line does not lie at any point more than half the 

distance between the old city boundary and the corporate boundary of any other 

municipality.  Said territory is described as follows: 

 
2760 Altadena Lake Drive 

Lot 3, Block 5, First Addition to Altadena Valley, Fifth Sector 
Lynne R. Smitherman, Trustee, Owner 

 
  SECTION 2.  That the City Clerk shall file a certified copy of this 

Ordinance containing an accurate description of said annexed territory with the Probate 

Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama, and also cause a copy of this Ordinance to be 

published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 



Ordinance Number 2490 
Page 2 

 
  APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2490 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2490 
Page 3 

 

 



Resolution Number 4574 
Page 1 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 4574 

 
 A RESOLUTION PROPOSING THE ANNEXATION 

OF CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE CORPORATE 
LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA. 

 
 WHEREAS, there has been a petition filed with the City Clerk of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and herein presented to the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, dated June 14, 2013, wherein all owners of certain property contiguous 

to the City Limits of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, ask that their property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, said Petition has been presented to the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on the 14th day of April, 2014; and 

 WHEREAS, it would be to the best interest of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, and to the citizens thereof to consider annexation of said territory and bringing 

it within the corporate limits of this Municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, said petitioners must comply with Act #604, 1970 Alabama 

Legislature regarding Fire Districts (property owners are to be responsible for fire dues if 

they are within another Fire District at the time of the annexation petition). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the said Petition shall be published one (1) time in The Birmingham 

News, a newspaper of general circulation in Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, 

on the 16th day of April, 2014. 

 2.  That on the 28th day of July, 2014, in the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, a 

public hearing will be held to determine the truths of the matter set forth in said petition 

and to consider any protests or objections filed in writing with the City Clerk prior to 

such hearing, to determine whether it is in the public interest or not that said property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and to consider adoption of an Ordinance 

annexing the territory described in said petition to this Municipality. 

 3.  That this Resolution shall become known and referred to as Resolution 

Number 4574 by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and as 



Resolution Number 4574 
Page 2 

 
annexation of the following described property by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

2468 Kenvil Circle 
Lot 42, Buckhead, 2nd Sector 

Tara Adams, Owner(s) 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 



Resolution Number 4574 
Page 3 

 

 









RLeavings
Text Box
2/12/2014

RLeavings
Text Box
C Brady











Ordinance Number 2491 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2491 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO ALTER, REARRANGE, AND EXTEND THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA, SO AS TO EMBRACE AND INCLUDE WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE AREA OF SAID CITY ALL TERRITORY NOW 
WITHIN SUCH CORPORATE LIMITS AND ALSO CERTAIN 
OTHER TERRITORY CONTIGUOUS TO SAID CITY. 

 
  WHEREAS, a certain petition signed by Tara Adams dated June 14, 

2013, that the property therein described be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, together with a map of said territory showing its relationship to the corporate 

limits of the City, has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills; and 

  WHEREAS, this Council has determined and found that the matters set 

forth and alleged in said petition are true and correct, and that it is in the public interest 

that said territory be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills; 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION 1.  That said Council hereby assents to the annexation of said 

territory to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, the corporate limits of the City to be 

extended and rearranged pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 42, Article 2, 

Code of Alabama, 1975 (Sections 11-42-20 through 11-42-23, as amended) so as to 

embrace and include said territory, in addition to the territory already within its present 

corporate limits.  The new boundary line does not lie at any point more than half the 

distance between the old city boundary and the corporate boundary of any other 

municipality.  Said territory is described as follows: 

 
2468 Kenvil Circle 

Lot 42, Buckhead, 2nd Sector 
Tara Adams 

 
  SECTION 2.  That the City Clerk shall file a certified copy of this 

Ordinance containing an accurate description of said annexed territory with the Probate 

Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama, and also cause a copy of this Ordinance to be 

published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

  APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 



Ordinance Number 2491 
Page 2 

 
 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2491 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 



Ordinance Number 2491 
Page 3 

 

 



Resolution Number 4575 
Page 1 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 4575 

 
 A RESOLUTION PROPOSING THE ANNEXATION 

OF CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE CORPORATE 
LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA. 

 
 WHEREAS, there has been a petition filed with the City Clerk of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and herein presented to the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, dated January 27, 2014, wherein all owners of certain property 

contiguous to the City Limits of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, ask that their 

property be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, said Petition has been presented to the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on the 14th day of April, 2014; and 

 WHEREAS, it would be to the best interest of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, and to the citizens thereof to consider annexation of said territory and bringing 

it within the corporate limits of this Municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, said petitioners must comply with Act #604, 1970 Alabama 

Legislature regarding Fire Districts (property owners are to be responsible for fire dues if 

they are within another Fire District at the time of the annexation petition). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the said Petition shall be published one (1) time in The Birmingham 

News, a newspaper of general circulation in Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, 

on the 16th day of April, 2014. 

 2.  That on the 28th day of July, 2014, in the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, a 

public hearing will be held to determine the truths of the matter set forth in said petition 

and to consider any protests or objections filed in writing with the City Clerk prior to 

such hearing, to determine whether it is in the public interest or not that said property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and to consider adoption of an Ordinance 

annexing the territory described in said petition to this Municipality. 

 3.  That this Resolution shall become known and referred to as Resolution 

Number 4575 by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and as 



Resolution Number 4575 
Page 2 

 
annexation of the following described property by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

2400 Rocky Ridge Road 
Lot 105, Buckhead, 4th Secto 

Michael and Donya Rumore, Owner(s) 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 



Resolution Number 4575 
Page 3 

 

 









RLeavings
Text Box
2/12/2014

RLeavings
Text Box
C Brady















Ordinance Number 2492 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2492 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO ALTER, REARRANGE, AND EXTEND THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA, SO AS TO EMBRACE AND INCLUDE WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE AREA OF SAID CITY ALL TERRITORY NOW 
WITHIN SUCH CORPORATE LIMITS AND ALSO CERTAIN 
OTHER TERRITORY CONTIGUOUS TO SAID CITY. 

 
  WHEREAS, a certain petition signed by Michael and Donya Rumore 

dated January 27, 2014, that the property therein described be annexed to the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, together with a map of said territory showing its relationship to 

the corporate limits of the City, has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of Vestavia 

Hills; and 

  WHEREAS, this Council has determined and found that the matters set 

forth and alleged in said petition are true and correct, and that it is in the public interest 

that said territory be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills; 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION 1.  That said Council hereby assents to the annexation of said 

territory to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, the corporate limits of the City to be 

extended and rearranged pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 42, Article 2, 

Code of Alabama, 1975 (Sections 11-42-20 through 11-42-23, as amended) so as to 

embrace and include said territory, in addition to the territory already within its present 

corporate limits.  The new boundary line does not lie at any point more than half the 

distance between the old city boundary and the corporate boundary of any other 

municipality.  Said territory is described as follows: 

 
2400 Rocky Ridge Road 

Lot 105, Buckhead, 4th Secto 
Michael and Donya Rumore, Owners 

 
  SECTION 2.  That the City Clerk shall file a certified copy of this 

Ordinance containing an accurate description of said annexed territory with the Probate 

Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama, and also cause a copy of this Ordinance to be 

published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 



Ordinance Number 2492 
Page 2 

 
  APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2492 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 



Ordinance Number 2492 
Page 3 

 

 



Resolution Number 4576 
Page 1 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 4576 

 
 A RESOLUTION PROPOSING THE ANNEXATION 

OF CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE CORPORATE 
LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA. 

 
 WHEREAS, there has been a petition filed with the City Clerk of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and herein presented to the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, dated January 18, 2014, wherein all owners of certain property 

contiguous to the City Limits of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, ask that their 

property be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, said Petition has been presented to the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on the 14th day of April, 2014; and 

 WHEREAS, it would be to the best interest of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, and to the citizens thereof to consider annexation of said territory and bringing 

it within the corporate limits of this Municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, said petitioners must comply with Act #604, 1970 Alabama 

Legislature regarding Fire Districts (property owners are to be responsible for fire dues if 

they are within another Fire District at the time of the annexation petition). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the said Petition shall be published one (1) time in The Birmingham 

News, a newspaper of general circulation in Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, 

on the 16th day of April, 2014. 

 2.  That on the 28th day of July, 2014, in the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, a 

public hearing will be held to determine the truths of the matter set forth in said petition 

and to consider any protests or objections filed in writing with the City Clerk prior to 

such hearing, to determine whether it is in the public interest or not that said property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and to consider adoption of an Ordinance 

annexing the territory described in said petition to this Municipality. 

 3.  That this Resolution shall become known and referred to as Resolution 

Number 4576 by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and as 



Resolution Number 4576 
Page 2 

 
annexation of the following described property by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

2835 Acton Road 
Lot 1, Adams Resurvey 

Brantley P. Bowden, Owner(s) 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 



Resolution Number 4576 
Page 3 

 

 









RLeavings
Text Box
2/12/14

RLeavings
Text Box
C Brady















Ordinance Number 2493 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2493 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO ALTER, REARRANGE, AND EXTEND THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA, SO AS TO EMBRACE AND INCLUDE WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE AREA OF SAID CITY ALL TERRITORY NOW 
WITHIN SUCH CORPORATE LIMITS AND ALSO CERTAIN 
OTHER TERRITORY CONTIGUOUS TO SAID CITY. 

 
  WHEREAS, a certain petition signed by Brantley P. Bowden dated 

January 18, 2014, that the property therein described be annexed to the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, together with a map of said territory showing its relationship to the 

corporate limits of the City, has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of Vestavia 

Hills; and 

  WHEREAS, this Council has determined and found that the matters set 

forth and alleged in said petition are true and correct, and that it is in the public interest 

that said territory be annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills; 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION 1.  That said Council hereby assents to the annexation of said 

territory to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, the corporate limits of the City to be 

extended and rearranged pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 42, Article 2, 

Code of Alabama, 1975 (Sections 11-42-20 through 11-42-23, as amended) so as to 

embrace and include said territory, in addition to the territory already within its present 

corporate limits.  The new boundary line does not lie at any point more than half the 

distance between the old city boundary and the corporate boundary of any other 

municipality.  Said territory is described as follows: 

 
2835 Acton Road 

Lot 1, Adams Resurvey 
Brantley P. Bowden, Owner 

 
  SECTION 2.  That the City Clerk shall file a certified copy of this 

Ordinance containing an accurate description of said annexed territory with the Probate 

Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama, and also cause a copy of this Ordinance to be 

published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 



Ordinance Number 2493 
Page 2 

 
  APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2493 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 



Ordinance Number 2493 
Page 3 

 

 



RESOLUTION NUMBER 4578 
 

A RESOLUTION DECLINING EXECUTION OF AN AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE ALABAMA 911 BOARD AND THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HIILS 

 
 WHEREAS, the Alabama 911 Board has submitted to the City of Vestavia Hills ECD 

Board a revised “Agreement and Assignment of Excess Cost Recovery Funds” (“Agreement”), a 

copy of which is marked as “Exhibit A,” attached to and incorporated into this Resolution 

Number 4578 as though written fully therein; and 

 WHEREAS, said agreement has been reviewed by the City’s Fire Department personnel 

and recommendation was made by the Fire Chief in a memorandum dated March 14, 2014 to 

decline execution of said agreement; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council constitute the City’s ECD Board with full 

authority to authorize or decline execution of said agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council as the City of Vestavia Hills EDC Board have 

reviewed the attached agreement as well as the recommendation of the Fire Chief and the City 

Manager and have determined it is in the best public interest to decline execution of said 

agreement. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Mayor and City Council as the City of Vestavia Hills ECD Board decline 

authorization to execute and deliver said Agreement with the Alabama 911 Board; and 

2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon adoption and approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
       Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
       Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4578



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4578



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4578



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4578



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 4578









Resolution Number 4579 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4579 
 

A RESOLUTION TO CONTINUE THE PRESENT PREIMUM CODE PAY 
POLICY FOR THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS PUBLIC SAFETY 
EMPLOYEES 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills recognizes the importance of education and 

training of Public Safety employees; and 

 WHEREAS, the premium compensation policy for Public Safety Classifications is 

detailed as follows: 

 “Public Safety Classifications: 

A. 2 Years/Associate Degree or Equivalent – Premium Code #6.  Sworn personnel in the 

Police, Sheriff or Fire Department (except Police of Fire Chiefs) who have completed 

sixty-four (64) semester hours, ninety-six (96) quarter hours or an Associate’s Degree 

in an accredited college program area may be eligible for one premium-step above his 

or her regular pay step. 

B. 4 Years/Bachelor’s Degree – Premium Code #21.  Sworn personnel in the Police, 

Sheriff or Fire Departments (except Police or Fire Chiefs) who have completed a 

B.A. or B.S Degree Program from an accredited four-year college in any curriculum 

area may be eligible for two premium-steps above his or her regular pay step.  Sworn 

personnel receiving this premium are not also eligible to receive an educational 

premium for completing 64 semesters, 96 quarter hours or an Associate’s Degree as 

defined in “A” above. 

With respect to A & B above:   

• The sworn personnel must have achieved a minimum “C” average in 

his/her completed course work to be eligible for the incentive pay 

premium. 

• When computing total credit hours, no credit may be given for required 

remedial courses. 

• All educational pay increases must be recommended and approved by the 

Appointing Authority.  Sworn personnel must submit a certified copy of 

the college transcript to the appropriate Appointing Authority and to the 

Personnel Board;” and 



Resolution Number 4579 
Page 2 

 
WHEREAS, said premium pay has been budgeted within the approved City of Vestavia 

Hills budget for fiscal year 2014; and 

WHEREAS, on March 11, 2014 the Jefferson County Personnel Board adopted and 

approved a new “Salary and Administration Guide & Pay Plan” in compliance with Rule 7 and 

Rule 8 of the Rules and Regulations of the Personnel Board of Jefferson County effective 

immediately upon adoption on said date; and 

WHEREAS, the City Manager has reviewed said policy and pay plan and has 

recommended that until such time as the Mayor and City Council adopt a Resolution to amend 

the premium pay policy of the City, that Public Safety employees shall be paid at the existing 

premium pay policy as detailed above; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to accept the 

recommendation of the City Manager. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the existing Public Safety premium pay policy remain and be used as the effective 

premium pay policy for the City of Vestavia Hills Public Safety Employees until such 

time as the Mayor and City Council adopt and approve a Resolution to amend said 

policy; and 

2. Said policy shall remain in full force and effect as follows: 

“Public Safety Classifications: 

C. 2 Years/Associate Degree or Equivalent – Premium Code #6.  Sworn 

personnel in the Police, Sheriff or Fire Department (except Police of 

Fire Chiefs) who have completed sixty-four (64) semester hours, 

ninety-six (96) quarter hours or an Associate’s Degree in an accredited 

college program area may be eligible for one premium-step above his 

or her regular pay step. 

D. 4 Years/Bachelor’s Degree – Premium Code #21.  Sworn personnel in 

the Police, Sheriff or Fire Departments (except Police or Fire Chiefs) 

who have completed a B.A. or B.S Degree Program from an accredited 

four-year college in any curriculum area may be eligible for two 

premium-steps above his or her regular pay step.  Sworn personnel 



Resolution Number 4579 
Page 3 

 
receiving this premium are not also eligible to receive an educational 

premium for completing 64 semesters, 96 quarter hours or an 

Associate’s Degree as defined in “A” above. 

With respect to A & B above:   

• The sworn personnel must have achieved a minimum “C” 

average in his/her completed course work to be eligible for the 

incentive pay premium. 

• When computing total credit hours, no credit may be given for 

required remedial courses. 

• All educational pay increases must be recommended and 

approved by the Appointing Authority.  Sworn personnel must 

submit a certified copy of the college transcript to the 

appropriate Appointing Authority and to the Personnel Board;” 

and 

3. This Resolution Number 4579 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
 
       Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
       Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4583 
 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN ALCOHOL 

LICENSE FOR THIRTY ONE LLC D/B/A THIRTY 
ONE; EDWARD BEARD WEBBER, EXECUTIVE 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, approves 

the alcohol license for Thirty One LLC d/b/a Thirty One, located at 1485 Montgomery 

Highway, Suite 21, Vestavia Hills, Alabama, for the on-premise sale of 020 - Restaurant 

Retail Liquor; Edward Beard Webber, executive. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 











Resolution Number 4584 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4584 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE 
AND DELIVER AN AGREEMENT WITH ALABAMA DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION FOR PROJECT NUMBER 99-303-371-003-401 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (hereinafter at times referred to as 

“City”) is desirous of having certain improvements made on SR-3 (US-31) within the city limits 

of Vestavia Hills, in accordance with plans prepared by the Alabama Department of 

Transportation and designated as Project Number: 99-303-371-003-401 Widening, Planing, 

Resurfacing, Loop Detectors, Permanent Traffic Stripe, Guardrail End Anchors, and Bridge Rail 

Retrofit along SR-3 (US-31) from 0.150 miles North of I-65 and 0.050 miles north of Shades 

Crest Road; and 

 WHEREAS, the Alabama Department of Transportation (“ALDOT”) is now or may 

later be desirous of receiving Federal Aid for improvement of said highway; and 

 WHEREAS, the Federal Highway Administration, an agency of the United States of 

America, will not participate in any funding for the construction of said project until and unless 

the City will agree to certain requirements of the Federal Highway Administration.  The City for 

the purpose of complying with requirement of the Federal Highway Administration in regard to 

its funding of improvements of the type and kind in this agreement provided for, does hereby 

pass and adopt the following resolution. 

 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the plans of said project including alignment, profile, grades typical sections and 

paving layouts as submitted to this City and which are now on file in the Office of the 

City Clerk are hereby approved and that the location of said project as staked out by the 

Alabama Department of Transportation and as shown by said plans referred to are hereby 

approved and the Alabama Department of Transportation, in cooperation with the Federal 

Highway Administration, is hereby authorized to proceed with the grading, draining, 

paving and otherwise improving and construction of said project in accordance with said 

plans; and 

2. The City, by and through its Mayor and City Council, hereby grants to ALDOT the full 

use of and access to the dedicated widths of any existing streets for the construction of 



Resolution Number 4584 
Page 2 

 
said project and hereby agrees to permit and allow ALDOT to close and barricade the 

said project and intersecting streets for as long as necessary wile the said project is being 

graded, drained, paved and otherwise improved, and hereby agrees that the use of any 

street or highway for parking within an interchange area will not at any time be 

permitted; and 

3. The City hereby further agrees to adopt or pass such legally effective ordinances and/or 

laws as will permanently barricade and/or relocate certain interesting streets as required 

by the State and to permanently deny or limit access at certain locations as required by 

the State along said improvements, all of which are more specifically stated as follows: 

N/A 

Please refer to:  Project Notes  (Sheets 2N-2S) 

Please refer to:  Traffic Signal Plan Notes (Sheets 2T – 2V) 

Please refer to:  Traffic Control Notes (Sheets 2W – 2AA) 

Please refer to:  Traffic Control Plan and Sequence of Construction (Sheets 6-13) 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL, that for 

and in consideration of ALDOT in cooperation with the Federal Highway Administration, 

constructing said highway and routing traffic along the same through the City over said project, 

such City hereby agrees with ALDOT for and the benefit of the Federal Highway 

Administration, on the above-mentioned project the City will not in the future permit 

encroachments on the right-of-way; nor will it pass any ordinances or laws fixing a speed limit 

contrary to those limits provided for in Title 32, Chapter 5, Code of Alabama 1975, as amended, 

and other laws of Alabama; nor will it permit other than parallel parking in areas where parking 

is permitted, nor will it allow the placing of any informational, regulatory, or warning signs, 

signals, median crossover, curb and pavement or other markings and traffic signals without 

written approval of ALDOT and the Federal Highway Administration, of the location, form and 

character of such installations.  The traffic control devices and signs installed during 

construction, and those installed after completion of this project shall be in accordance with the 

latest edition of the national Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices and accepted standards 

adopted by the Alabama Department of Transportation of the State of Alabama and by the 

Federal highway Administration.  The City further agrees that subsequent traffic control devices 



Resolution Number 4584 
Page 3 

 
deemed necessary by it in keeping with applicable statues, rules and regulations to promote the 

safe and efficient utilization of the highway under the authority of Title 32, Chapter 5, Code of 

Alabama 1975 and all other applicable laws of Alabama, shall be subject to and must have the 

approval of the Alabama Department of transportation of the State of Alabama and of the 

Federal Highway Administration, prior to installation and the City further agrees that it will 

enforce traffic an control the same under the provisions of Title 32, Chapter 5, Code of Alabama, 

1975 and other applicable laws of Alabama. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL, as follows: 

1. That the City agrees to perform all maintenance on crossroads, service dries, or relocated 

roads that are not designated Federal or State highways that are in the jurisdiction of the 

City; and 

2. That the City agrees to perform all maintenance on any existing road which has been 

replaced by a new road; or, if the existing road is not used, the City has the option of 

vacating same; and 

3. That the City agrees to perform all maintenance on interchanges to the theoretical cross 

of the denied access line; and 

4. That the City agrees to perform all maintenance on grade separations along the roadway 

to the end of the bridge, or the denied access fence, whichever the case. 

It is understood and agreed that no changes in this Resolution or Agreement shall in the 

future be made without having obtained the prior approval of the Federal Highway 

Administration. 

THIS RESOLUTION PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED this the 14th day of 

April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 



Resolution Number 4584 
Page 4 

 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
      APPROVED BY: 
 
 
 
 
 
      Jeff Downes, 
      City Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, the undersigned, Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, do hereby certify that the above 
and foregoing is a true and correct copy of a Resolution duly and lawfully adopted by the 
Council of the foregoing City, at its regular meeting held on the 14thd ay of April, 2014, which 
Resolution is on file in the Office of the City Clerk. 
 Given under my hand and the official seal of such ______ this ______ day of 
_________________, 2014. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       Rebecca Leavings 
       City Clerk 



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Agreement - Resolution No. 4584



Ordinance Number 2496 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2496 
 
 AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR LEVYING OF 

MUNICIPAL TAXES FOR THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AND FOR 
ASSESSMENT AND COLLECTION THEREOF IN 
SHELBY COUNTY. 

 
  NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

  SECTION ONE - TAX LEVY:  Taxes are levied for the City tax year 

commencing on the first (1st) day of October, 2014, on all real and personal property and 

other properties and franchises in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, subject to taxation 

by the laws of the State of Alabama, based on the valuation of said property as assessed 

for State taxation as shown by the books of assessment for the State and County tax year 

ending during the preceding year, as follows: 

A. A tax for general municipal purposes of Two and 37/100 Dollars ($2.37) on each 

One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of value of such property; 

B. A tax for Public School purposes of Two and 56/100 Dollars ($2.56) on each One 

Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of value of such property; 

C. In summary, the aggregate local millage for general Municipal purposes and 

Municipal School tax rates are Four and 93/100 Dollars ($4.93) per One Hundred 

($100.00) of the value of such property; 

D. The local millage for the City’s accounting purposes shall be allocated as follows: 

   General Municipal Purposes   1.0275 
   Garbage Collection    1.0275 
   West Elementary Warrants   0.3150 
  High School and Board Operations  2.5600 
 
     Total   4.9300 



Ordinance Number 2496 
Page 2 

 
 

  SECTION TWO - SHELBY TAX LEVY:  Taxes are hereby levied byl 

the Shelby County Commission §40-7-42, Code of Alabama, 1975 for the City tax year 

commencing on the first day of October, 2014, on all real and personal property and other 

properties and franchises in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, subject to taxation by 

the laws of the State of Alabama, based on the valuation of said property as assessed for 

County taxation, as shown by the books of assessment for the State and County tax year 

ending on the 30th day of September, 2015, as follows: 

A. A tax of Fifty Cents ($0.50) on each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the value 

of such property for general fund purposes; 

B. A tax of One Dollar and Sixty Cents ($1.60) on each One Hundred Dollars 

($100.00) of the value of such property for school districts; 

C. A tax of Twenty-five Cents ($0.25) for each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of 

the value of such property for roads and bridges; 

D. In summary, the aggregate County millage for general purposes, countywide 

school taxes, and road and bridges is Two and 35/100 Dollars ($2.35) per One 

Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the value of such property. 

  It is the further intent that the aggregate ad valorem tax rate of each One 

Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed value of property in the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Shelby County, Alabama, should amount to Seven and 93/100 Dollars ($7.93) which 

shall consist of the following millages: 

  State of Alabama    0.650 
  Shelby County     0.500 
  Shelby County School Countywide  1.600 
  Shelby County Road and Bridge  0.250 



Ordinance Number 2496 
Page 3 

 
  General Municipal Purpose Tax  2.055 
  Special Municipal School Tax  2.560 
  West Elementary Warrants   0.315 
 
      Total  7.930 
 

 SECTION THREE - TAX BASIS AND WHEN DUE:  On and after the 1st day 

of October, 2014, all municipal taxes due the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, shall be 

based and due on all County assessments of the property within the limits of said County 

for the preceding year, and shall be due and delinquent at the time when State and County 

taxes for the preceding year are due and delinquent. 

 SECTION FOUR - EFFECTIVE DATE AND LIEN:  The levy of taxes made 

herein shall go into force and effect as of October 1, 2014, and shall on said date become 

a lien on the property subject thereto. 

 SECTION FIVE - TAX ASSESSOR AND TAX COLLECTOR, AND 

THEIR COMPENSATION:  The Tax Assessor and Tax Collector of Shelby County, 

Alabama, shall be considered to be the Tax Assessor and Tax Collector respectively for 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and shall each receive as compensation for this 

service in assessing and collecting respectively the taxes herein levied, as fee equivalent 

to one-half of one per centum (1/2 of 1%) of the taxes collected and then remitted to the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 SECTION SIX - CONFLICTS:  That all Ordinances, or parts of Ordinances, 

including Ordinance Number 2496, heretofore, adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, in conflict with the provisions hereof are hereby expressly 

repealed. 

 



Ordinance Number 2496 
Page 4 

 
  SEVERABILITY:  The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared 

severable.  Should any provision of this Ordinance be held invalid, the invalidity thereof 

shall not affect the remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

  EFFECTIVE DATE:  This Ordinance shall become effective 

immediately upon its adoption and approval. 

  ADOPTED AND APPROVED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca H. Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2496 is a true 
and correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City 
of Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
and Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings  
      City Clerk 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2497 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND ORDINANCE 2410 PROVIDING 

FOR LEVYING OF MUNICIPAL TAXES FOR THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AND FOR ASSESSMENT AND 
COLLECTION THEREOF. 

 
WITNESSETH THESE HISTORICAL RECITALS: 

 
 WHEREAS, prior to November 15, 1982, the ad valorem tax rate of each One 

Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed value of property in the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Jefferson County, Alabama, amounted to Eight and 21/100 Dollars ($8.21), which 

consisted of the following amounts: 

1. State of Alabama:  Sixty-five cents on each One  $ 0.65 
 Hundred dollars  ($100.00) of assessed value of 
 such property. 
 
2. Jefferson County:  One and  35/100  Dollars on   1.35 
 each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of  the  
 assessed value of such property. 
 
3. Jefferson County Schools:   Eighty-two    cents   0.82 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 
 the assessed value of such property. 
 
4. Special School District Tax:   Ninety-six  cents   0.96 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 
 the assessed value of such property. 
 
5. Special District Tax:  Fifty-five  cents  on  each   0.55 
 One   Hundred   Dollars    ($100.00)    of    the 
 assessed value of such property. 
 
6. Local General  Municipal  and  Special  Municipal   3.88 
 School  Taxes:   Three   and   88/100 
 Dollars    on   each    One   Hundred   Dollars 
 ($100.00)   of   the   assessed   value  of  such  ___________ 
 property. 
   TOTAL $ 8.21 
and; 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 2 

 
 WHEREAS, prior to November 15, 1982, the aggregate locally approved millage 

for general municipal purposes and local school taxes of 38.8 mills (being at the rate of 

$3.88 per $100.00 of assessed value) consisted of the following: 

  General Municipal Purposes  10.275 
  Garbage Collection   10.275 
  West Elementary - Warrants    3.150 
  High School and Operations  15.100 
 
     TOTAL 38.800  and; 
 
 WHEREAS, all real property in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, has been 

reappraised; and 

 WHEREAS, the Tax Assessor of Jefferson County in 1982 certified to the City 

of Vestavia Hills that total assessed value increased from $42,983,320.00 in 1981 to 

$63,427,627.00 in 1982; and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, pursuant to the authority 

granted by Constitutional Amendment Number 373 (Lid Bill) of the Constitution of 

Alabama 1901, adopted Ordinance Number 633 on November 15, 1982, which reduced 

the ad valorem tax rate by 7.8 mills ($0.78 per $100.00 of assessed value).  Following the 

enactment of Ordinance Number 633, the total millage rate consisted of the following 

separate taxes: 

1. State of Alabama:  Sixty-five cents on  each One  $ 0.65 
 Hundred dollars  ($100.00) of assessed value of 
 such property. 
 
2. Jefferson County:  One and  35/100  Dollars on   1.35 
 each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of  the  
 assessed value of such property. 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 3 

 
3. Jefferson County Schools:   Eighty-two    cents   0.82 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 
 the assess value of such property. 
 
4. Special School District Tax:   Ninety-six  cents   0.96 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 
 the assessed value of such property. 
 
5. Special District Tax:  Fifty-five  cents  on  each   0.55 
 One   Hundred   Dollars    ($100.00)    of    the 
 assessed value of such property. 
 
6. Local General  Municipal  and  Special  Municipal   3.10 
 School Taxes:   Three   and   10/100 
 Dollars    on   each    One   Hundred   Dollars 
 ($100.00)   of   the   assessed   value  of  such  ___________ 
 property. 
   TOTAL $ 7.43 
 
After the adoption of Ordinance Number 633, the aggregate locally approved millage for 

general municipal purposes and local school district taxes of 31.0 mills (being at the rate 

of $3.10 per $100.00 of assessed value) consisted of the following: 

  General Municipal Purposes  0.821 
  Garbage Collection   0.821 
  West Elementary - Warrants  0.252 
  High School and Operations  1.206 
 
     TOTAL 3.100  and; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Board of Education unanimously adopted a 

resolution requesting that the ad valorem tax millage for education purposes be returned 

to the pre-November 15, 1982, rates by reinstating the 3.7 mills (.37 per $100.00 of 

assessed value) as follows: 

 West Elementary Warrants from   2.52 to   3.15 
 High School & Operations from 12.06 to 15.10; and 
 
 WHEREAS, said resolution was presented to the City Council on February 4, 

1985; and 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 4 

 
 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on February 11, 1985, on the issue of 

whether or not to reinstate the 3.7 mills for the benefit of the Vestavia Hills Board of 

Education; and 

 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Board of Education has requested the City 

Council to return the ad valorem millage tax rates that affect the Vestavia Hills School 

System to those rates in force and effective immediately prior to the adoption of 

Ordinance Number 633 on November 15, 1982, by reinstating Thirty-Seven Cents 

($0.37) on each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of property so that 

the rates when adjusted will be as follows: 

1. The 12.06 High School mills ($1.206 on each $100.00 of assessed value) be 
adjusted to 15.1 mills ($1.51 on each $100.00 of assessed value). 

 
2. The 2.52 West Elementary mills ($0.252 on each $100.00 of assessed value) be 

adjusted to 3.15 mills ($0.315 on each $100.00 of assessed value); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, agreed to 

approve the request of the Board of Education by reinstating the 3.7 mills ($0.37 per 

$100.00 of assessed value).  The City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

approved and adopted Ordinance Number 744 on February 18, 1985, which said 

Ordinance provided, among other things, as follows: 

1. Reinstatement of 3.7 mills (0.37 on each One Hundred dollars of assessed value). 
 
2. Established that the aggregate local millage for general municipal purposes and 

local school district tax rates are Three and 47/100 Dollars ($3.47) per One 
Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of said property. 

 
3. That the $3.47 local millage consists of the following: 
  (a) General Municipal Purposes  0.823 
  (b) Garbage Collection   0.823 
  (c) West Elementary - Warrants  0.315 
  (d) High School and Operations  1.510 
      TOTAL 3.470   and; 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 5 

 
 
4. The total ad valorem tax rate of each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed 

value of property in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, shall amount to Seven 
and 80/100 Dollars ($7.80) and shall consist of the following: 

 
  State of Alabama   $ 0.65 
  Jefferson County    1.35 
  Jefferson County Schools   0.82 
  Special School District Tax   0.96 
  Special School District Tax   0.55 
  General Municipal Purpose Tax  1.96 
  Special Municipal School Tax  1.51 
 
     TOTAL $ 7.80 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills subsequently desired 

to return the millage tax rates that affect the General Fund to those rates in force and 

effective immediately prior to the adoption of Ordinance Number 633 on November 15, 

1982, by reinstating (4.1 mills) forty-one cents on each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) 

of the assessed value of property so that the rates when adjusted will be as follows: 

1. The 8.23 General Fund Mills (0.823 on each $100.00 of assessed value) be 
adjusted to 10.275 mills (1.0275 on each $100.00 of assessed value). 

 
2. The 8.23 Garbage Collection Fund Mills (0.823 on each $100.00 of assessed 

value) be adjusted to 10.275 mills (1.0275 on each $100.00 of assessed value). 
 
 The total ad valorem tax rate of each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed 

value property in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, shall amount to Eight Dollars and 

21 Cents ($8.21) and shall consist of the following: 

1. State of Alabama:  Sixty-five cents on  each One  $ 0.65 
 Hundred dollars  ($100.00) of assessed value of such property. 
 
2. Jefferson County:  One and  35/100  Dollars on   1.35 
 each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of  the  
 assessed value of such property. 
 
3. Jefferson County Schools:   Eighty-two    cents   0.82 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 6 

 
 the assess value of such property. 
 
4. Special School District Tax:   Ninety-six  cents   0.96 
 on  each  One  Hundred  Dollars  ($100.00)  of 
 the assessed value of such property. 
 
5. Special District Tax:  Fifty-five  cents  on  each   0.55 
 One   Hundred   Dollars    ($100.00)    of    the 
 assessed value of such property. 
 
6. Local General  Municipal  and  Special  Municipal   3.88 
 School  Taxes:   Three   and   88/100 
 Dollars    on   each    One   Hundred   Dollars 
 ($100.00)   of   the   assessed   value  of  such  ___________ 
 property. 
   TOTAL $ 8.21 
 
 WHEREAS, on May 4, 1987, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, approved and adopted Ordinance Number 901, which established the ad 

valorem tax rate of Eight and 21/100 Dollars ($8.21) per One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) 

of assessed value as shown in the schedule immediately above; and 

 WHEREAS, a referendum was held in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on 

Tuesday, May 8, 1990, at which election the qualified electors of the city voted on the 

following issue: 

TEN AND ONE-HALF MILL TAX INCREASE 
IN VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, 
FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL PURPOSES 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
 Shall the ad valorem tax presently being levied in the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, pursuant to provisions of the Constitution and the laws of 
the State of Alabama, including the election held in the City on April 28, 
1970, at the rate of One Dollar and Fifty-one Cents on each One Hundred 
Dollars worth of taxable property in the City be increased to the rate of 
Two Dollars and Fifty-six Cents on each One Hundred Dollars worth of 
taxable property in the City (an increase of One Dollar and Five Cents on 
each One Hundred Dollars worth of taxable property, or ten and one-half 
mills); such additional ten and one-half mill tax to be levied and collected 
for each year beginning with the levy for the tax year October 1, 1989, to 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 7 

 
September, 1990 (the tax for which year will be due and payable October 
1, 1990) and ending with the levy for the tax October 1, 2016, to 
September 30, 2017 (the tax for which year will be due and payable 
October 1, 2017) and to be used by the City Board of Education of the 
City of Vestavia Hills for public schools purposes? 

 
  _____________ For Proposed Taxation 
 
  _____________ Against Proposed Taxation 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

 The majority of the qualified electors voted “For Proposed Taxation”.  The 
specific totals were: 

 
For Proposed Taxation 3,097 
Against Proposed Taxation 3,065 

 
 Following the referendum vote on May 8, 1990, the aggregate ad valorem tax rate 

on each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of assessed value of property in the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, amounted to Nine and 26/100 Dollars ($9.26) 

and consisted of the following millages: 

1.  State of Alabama   $ 0.650 
2.  Jefferson County    1.350 
3.  Jefferson County Schools   0.820 
4.  Special School District Tax   0.960 
5.  Special School District Tax   0.550 
6.  Local General Municipal Purpose Tax 2.055 
7.  Special Municipal School Tax  2.560 
8.  West Elementary    0.315 
 
     TOTAL $ 9.260 
 
 On August 27, 1991, the voters of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, elected to 

renew the 8.2 mill Jefferson County School ad valorem tax. 

 On April 28, 1992, the voters of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, elected to 

renew the 5.5 mill Special School District ad valorem tax. 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 8 

 
 On May 3, 1993, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

approved and adopted Ordinance Number 1353, levying ad valorem taxes at the rate of 

$9.26 per $100.00 of assessed value on real and personal property located within the City 

for the period beginning October 1, 1993, and ending September 30, 1994. 

 On October 26, 1993, the voters of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, voted in 

favor of a 9.6 mill increase of the 5.5 mill ad valorem tax (under Section 2 of 

Amendment 3, sometimes referred to as Amendment Number 3, Three Mill District Tax) 

to 15.1 mills. 

 Because of the 9.6 mill increase of the 5.5 mill ad valorem tax to 15.1 mills, the 

9.6 mill ad valorem tax authorized by Amendment Number 82 of the Constitution of the 

State of Alabama was not renewed. 

 On March 11, 2014, the voters of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, voted in 

favor of renewing the levy of the said 10.5 mill tax commencing with the tax year for 

which taxes will become due and payable on October 1, 2018 and for each consecutive 

tax year thereafter without limit as to time. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 SECTION ONE - TAX LEVY:   Taxes are hereby levied for the City tax year 

commencing on the first (1st) day of October 2013, on all real and personal property and 

other properties and franchises in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, subject to taxation 

by the laws of the State of Alabama, based on the valuation of said property as assessed 

for County taxation, as shown by the books of assessment for the State and County tax 

year ending on the 30th day of September, 2014, as follows: 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 9 

 
A. A tax for general municipal purposes of Two and 37/100 Dollars ($2.37) on each 

One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of such property. 
 
B. A tax for public school purposes of Two and 56/100 Dollars ($2.56) on each One 

Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of such property. 
 
C. In summary, the aggregate local millage for general municipal purposes and local 

school district tax rates are Four and 93/100 Dollars ($4.93) per One Hundred 
Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of such property. 

 
D. The local millage, for City accounting purposes, shall be allocated as follows: 
 
  General Municipal Purposes   1.0275 
  Garbage Collection    1.0275 
  West Elementary - Warrants     .3150 
  High School and Board Operations  2.5600 
 
      TOTAL 4.9300 
 
 SECTION TWO - SPECIAL DISTRICT TAXES:  In addition to the taxes 

levied in SECTION ONE above, taxes are hereby levied for the City tax year 

commencing on the 1st day of October, 2014, on all real and personal property and other 

properties and franchises in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, subject to taxation by 

the laws of the State of Alabama, based on the valuation of said property as assessed for 

County taxation, as shown by the books of assessment for the State and County tax year 

ending on the 30th day of September, 2015, as follows: 

A. A further tax of One Dollar and Fifty-one Cents ($1.51) of each One Hundred 
Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of such property, in addition to the above 
mentioned taxes to be applied exclusively to public school purposes pursuant to 
the authority conferred by the Constitution and the election held on February 11, 
1969; renewed on April 28, 1992, and increased to 15.1 mills on October 26, 
1993. 

 
B. A further tax of Eighty-two Cents ($0.82) of each One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) 

of the assessed value of such property, to be used solely and only for public 
school purposes pursuant to the Constitution of the State of Alabama. 

 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 10 

 
 Should the City Council of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, have no legal authority to 

provide for the levy, assessment and collection of the said Special School District Taxes 

as described in this SECTION TWO, then in such event, this SECTION TWO shall be 

considered as the City’s support of the Vestavia Hills Board of Education. 

 SECTION THREE - TAX BASIS AND WHEN DUE:  On and after the 1st day 

of October, 2014, all municipal taxes due the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, shall be 

based and due on all County assessments of the property within the limits of said County 

for the preceding year, and shall be due and delinquent at the time when State and County 

taxes for the preceding year are due and delinquent. 

 SECTION FOUR - EFFECTIVE DATE AND LIEN:  The levy of taxes made 

herein shall go into force and effect as of October 1, 2014, and shall on said date become 

a lien on the property subject thereto. 

 SECTION FIVE - TAX ASSESSOR AND TAX COLLECTOR, AND 

THEIR COMPENSATION:  The Tax Assessor and Tax Collector of Jefferson County, 

Alabama, shall be considered to be the Tax Assessor and Tax Collector respectively for 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and shall each receive as compensation for this 

service in assessing and collecting respectively the taxes herein levied, as fee equivalent 

to one-half of one per centum (1/2 of 1%) of the taxes collected and then remitted to the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 SECTION SIX - CONFLICTS:  That all Ordinances, or parts of Ordinances, 

including Ordinance Number 2497, heretofore, adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, in conflict with the provisions hereof are hereby expressly 

repealed. 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 11 

 
 SECTION SEVEN - SEVERABILITY:  The provisions of this Ordinance are 

hereby declared severable.  Should any provision of this Ordinance be held invalid, the 

invalidity thereof shall not affect the remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

 SECTION EIGHT - INTENT:  It is the intent of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, with the passage of this Ordinance Number 2497, that the aggregate local 

millage for general municipal purposes and local school district tax rates be Four and 

93/100 Dollars ($4.93) per One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) of the assessed value of such 

property and consist of the following: 

 Special High School Tax and Operations  $ 2.560 
 General Municipal Including Garbage   2.055 
 West Elementary        .315 
 
      TOTAL $ 4.930 
 
 It is the further intent that the aggregate ad valorem tax rate of each One Hundred 

Dollars ($100.00) of assessed value of property in the City of Vestavia Hills, Jefferson 

County, Alabama, shall amount to Nine and 26/100 Dollars ($9.26), which shall consist 

of the following millages: 

1.  State of Alabama   $ 0.650 
2.  Jefferson County    1.350 
3.  Jefferson County Schools   0.820 
4.  Special School District Tax   1.510 
5.  Local General Municipal Purpose Tax 2.055 
6.  Special Municipal School Tax  2.560 
7.  West Elementary    0.315 
 
     TOTAL $ 9.260 
 
 SECTION NINE - TAX ABATEMENT:  Whereas, the City of Vestavia Hills 

has annexed no parcels of land with tax abatements. 

 



Ordinance Number 2497 
Page 12 

 
 SECTION 10 - EFFECTIVE DATE:  This Ordinance shall become effective 

immediately upon its adoption and approval and is adopted and approved all in 

accordance with Title 11-51-40, et seq., Code of Alabama, 1975. 

 ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2497 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014, as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2013. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 



Ordinance Number 2494 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2494 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF A PARCEL OF PROPERTY FROM 
JEFFERSON COUNTY R-1 TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-2 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Vestavia Hills R-2 to Vestavia 

Hills Inst-1;  

1421 Round Hill Road 
Lot 19, 5th Addition to Vesthaven, Sector 4 

City of Vestavia Hills, Owner(s) 
 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 28th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2494 
Page 2 

 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2494 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 28th day of April, 2014 as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills New Merkle House, 
Vestavia Hills Civic Center and Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest this the ______ day 
of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 



Ordiinance Number
P
r 2494 
Page 3 

 

 



 1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING 

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 

Date:     MARCH 13, 2014 
 

• CASE:  P-0314-03 
 

• REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning from Vestavia Hills R-2 to Vestavia Hills Inst-1 
 

•    ADDRESS/LOCATION:  1421 Round Hill Rd 
 
• APPLICANT/OWNER: City of Vestavia Hills 

513 Montgomery Hwy 
Vestavia Hills, AL 35216 

 
• GENERAL DISCUSSION:  Lot is located directly to the east of the Library in the 

Forrest. The City has purchased this lot to expand library parking. The new parking 
lot will hold 46 spaces. The lot did have covenants prohibiting the rezoning that have 
been waived.  

 
• VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  The request may not be 

consistent with the plan which calls for a neighborhood use; however, it is not spot 
zoning because it is adjacent to an institutional use. 

 
• STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: 

 
1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 

subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.    

 
City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation  
 

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request.  

 
3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 

issues with this request.  
 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request.  

 



 2

MOTION:  Mr. Visintainer made a motion to recommend approval for Rezoning of 1421 Round 
Hill Rd.  from Vestavia Hills R-2 to Vestavia Hills Inst-1. Second was by Mr. Burrell. Motion 
was carried on a roll call; vote as follows: 

Mr. Goodwin – yes   Mr. Burrell – yes   
Mr. Visintainer – yes   Mr. Brooks – yes         
Mrs. Fancher – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes           
Mr. House – yes    Mr. Larson – yes  
Motion carried. 

 





Ordinance Number 2495 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2495 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE 
APPROVAL FOR A 120’ STEALTH MONOPOLE (MONOPINE) 

 
 WHEREAS, on December 13, 2010 the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama approved and adopted Ordinance Number 2331 entitled the Vestavia Hills 

Zoning Code and establishing a conditional use approval for certain uses not permissible 

by right in zoning classifications; and 

 WHEREAS, on February 6, 2014, Davis Properties LLC submitted an 

application for construction and operation of a 120’ stealth monopole (monopine) on the 

property located at 2062 Columbiana Road currently zoned Vestavia Hills B-1; and 

 WHEREAS, Section 7.9 of the Vestavia Hills Zoning Code sets forth 

development criteria for new telecommunications facilities; and 

 WHEREAS, AT&T has shown a need for added coverage in the general area of 

subject property in and along area rights-of-way; and 

 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Planning and Zoning Commission at its regular 

meeting of March 13, 2014 voted unanimously to recommend approval of the request for 

a 120’ stealth monopole (monopine) be approved as requested, with certain stipulations; 

and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of said application dated February 6, 2014 is attached and 

hereby incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2495. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 



Ordinance Number 2495 
Page 2 

 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Conditional Use Approval is hereby approved for AT&T Mobility for construction 

and operation of the Monopole on property owned by Davis Properties, LLC and 

located at 2062 Columbiana Road with the following conditions: 

(a)  The Monopole shall be a monopine stealth structure limited to 120’ in height with 

accompanying facilities; and 

(b)  The Monopole “branches and aesthetics” shall be kept in good condition while in 

use; and 

(c)  Any and all fencing surrounding the Monopole and related facilities shall be kept 

in good condition; and 

(d)  The areas surrounding the Monopole and related facilities shall be adequately 

landscaped; and  

(e)  Landscaping and proposed fencing shall be reviewed and approved by the City’s 

Design Review Board. 

2. If at any time the Monopole is destroyed or its intended use as a telecommunications 

tower terminated, and such structure is not reconstructed, refurbished or used for 

communication purposes for a period in excess of three hundred and sixty-five (365) 

days from the date of destruction or non-use, said Ordinance Number 2495 and said 

conditional use approval shall be nullified. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 28th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 



Ordinance Number 2495 
Page 3 

 

 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as Acting City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2495 is a true and correct copy 
of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills on the 
28th day of April, 2014 as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New 
Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 



 

Ordiinance Number
P
r 2495 
Page 4 

 

 



 1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING 

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 

Date:     MARCH 13, 2014 
 

 
• CASE:  P-0314-04 

 
• REQUESTED ACTION:   Conditional Use approval for a 120’ telecommunications 

facility 
 

•    ADDRESS/LOCATION:  2062 Columbiana Rd. 
 
• APPLICANT/OWNER: Davis Properties 

2062 Columbiana Rd. 
Vestavia Hills, AL 35216 
205-798-8293 
    

•   REPRESENTING AGENT:  Baker, Donelson. Bearman, Caldwell & Berkowitz,  
           P.C. 
           205-798-8293 

 
• GENERAL DISCUSSION:  Lot is located on Columbiana Rd. and house the Steven 

Davis & Company, Inc. CPA firm. The applicant and AT&T wish to construct a 120’ 
cell phone tower towards the rear of the property in a wooded area. The pole would 
sit on an 80’x80 pad. The applicant has the option of building a monopole tower or a 
monopine tower. A monopine tower is a tower entwined with pine tree-like branches. 
The application meets the requirements for telecommunication facilities in Section 
7.9 of the Zoning Code. The property is currently zoned Vestavia Hills B-1.  

 
• VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  The request is consistent with 

the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

• STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: 
 

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.    

 
City Planner Recommendation:  Recommended with a monopine tower.   
 



 2

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request.  

 
3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 

issues with this request.  
 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request.  

  
• MOTION:  Motion to recommend approval with the conditions that  

 
1. A “Monopine” tower be built; 
2. The fence surrounding the structure be decorative in nature; 
3. The area be adequately landscaped the Vestavia Hills Design Review Board’s 

satisfaction 
was made by Mr. Burrell and 2nd was made by Mr. Visintainer.  Motion was carried on a 
roll call; vote as follows: 
Mr. Goodwin – yes   Mr. Burrell – yes   
Mr. Visintainer – yes   Mr. Brooks – yes         
Mrs. Fancher – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes           
Mr. House – yes    Mr. Larson – yes  
Motion carried. 
 



Resolution Number 4580 
Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4580 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND CITY MANAGER 
TO ENTER INTO A MASTER DEVELOPMENT AND BROKERAGE 
SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH DANIEL CORPORATION FOR THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE REMAINDER OF PATCHWORK FARMS 

 
 WHEREAS, on December 11-13, 2013, the City of Vestavia Hills in coordination with 

consultant groups Goodwyn Mills and Cawood and Dover Kohl hosted a planning charrette to 

determine the highest use and best planned development for the remaining undeveloped areas of 

Patchwork Farms; and 

 WHEREAS, the charrette ended with a detailed plan for a “village type” center to be 

located on the property along with various mixed uses and strong recommendation made for the 

City to retain a master development to finalize and implement said planned development; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has worked with Daniel Corporation to act as master 

developer for Patchwork Farms and has submitted a Master Development and Brokerage 

Services Agreement (“Agreement”) for said services a copy of which is marked as “Exhibit A”, 

attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 4580; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and the City Council have studied the proposed agreement and 

have concurred with the City Manager’s recommendation that it is in the best public interest to 

authorize the execution and delivery of said agreement. 

 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND THE CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to execute and deliver said 

Agreement;  

2. This Resolution Number 4580 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
 
 



Resolution Number 2480 
Page 2 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



1/2596074.4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
MASTER DEVELOPMENT AND BROKERAGE SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 
BETWEEN 

 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA  

 
AND  

 
DANIEL CORPORATION 

 
  

 



i 
1/2596074.4 

  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
FOR 

MASTER DEVELOPMENT AND BROKERAGE SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

  
 
ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS ...................................................................................................................... 2 

1.01  DEFINITIONS. ............................................................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE II APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF DANIEL ................................................................. 5 

2.01  APPOINTMENT ............................................................................................................................. 5 
2.02  DUTIES OF DANIEL ...................................................................................................................... 5 
2.03  CONSULTANTS ............................................................................................................................. 5 
2.04  MASTER PLAN ............................................................................................................................. 5 
2.05  PUD PLAN AMENDMENTS ........................................................................................................... 6 
2.06  INFRASTRUCTURE PLANS AND DEVELOPMENT BUDGET ............................................................. 6 
2.07  ANNUAL BUDGETS ...................................................................................................................... 6 
2.08  FISCAL IMPACT ANALYSIS AND CITY INCENTIVES...................................................................... 6 
2.09  MANAGEMENT AND COORDINATION OF CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES. ....................................... 6 
2.10  RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS. .......................................................................................................... 8 
2.11  MARKETING MATERIALS ............................................................................................................. 8 
2.12  MARKETING AND SALE OF DEVELOPMENT PARCELS. ................................................................. 9 
2.13  JOINT VENTURE ......................................................................................................................... 10 
2.14  ACCOUNTING ............................................................................................................................. 10 
2.15  TIME SCHEDULE ........................................................................................................................ 10 
2.16  EMPLOYEES ............................................................................................................................... 10 

ARTICLE III COSTS AND EXPENSES ............................................................................................... 11 

3.01  INITIAL COSTS AND EXPENSES. ................................................................................................. 11 
3.02  ADDITIONAL COSTS AND EXPENSES.......................................................................................... 11 

ARTICLE IV FEES AND COMMISSIONS PAYABLE TO DANIEL AND DRS ............................ 11 

4.01  INITIAL DEVELOPMENT FEE ...................................................................................................... 11 

ARTICLE V INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY ................................................................................... 14 

5.01  REQUIRED INSURANCE. ............................................................................................................. 14 
5.02  CITY INDEMNITY. ...................................................................................................................... 14 
5.03  DANIEL AND DRS INDEMNITY. ................................................................................................. 15 

ARTICLE VI RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER AND RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL .............................. 15 

6.01  RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER. ............................................................................................................. 15 
6.02  RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL.. ........................................................................................................ 16 

ARTICLE VII TERM, DEFAULT AND TERMINATION ................................................................. 16 

7.01  TERM .......................................................................................................................................... 16 
7.02  EARLY TERMINATION ................................................................................................................ 16 
7.03  DEFAULT .................................................................................................................................... 17 



ii 
1/2596074.4 

ARTICLE VIII MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ............................................................................ 17 

8.01  NOTICES. .................................................................................................................................... 17 
8.02  NO WAIVER. .............................................................................................................................. 18 
8.03  APPLICABLE LAW. ..................................................................................................................... 19 
8.04  ASSIGNMENT; SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. ............................................................................... 19 
8.05  SEVERABILITY. .......................................................................................................................... 19 
8.06  TIME ........................................................................................................................................... 19 
8.07  DEFINED TERMS AND MARGINAL HEADINGS............................................................................ 19 
8.08  AUTHORITY ............................................................................................................................... 19 
8.09  FORCE MAJEURE ........................................................................................................................ 19 
8.10  CONSENTS AND APPROVALS ..................................................................................................... 20 
8.11  ATTORNEYS’ FEES ..................................................................................................................... 20 
8.12  ENTIRE AGREEMENT; AMENDMENT. ......................................................................................... 20 
8.13  DISPUTE RESOLUTION ............................................................................................................... 20 
8.14  NO PARTNERSHIP AND NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES ........................................................ 20 
8.15  COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS .......................................................................................................... 20 
8.16  STANDARD OF CARE .................................................................................................................. 20 

 
Exhibits: 
 
A -- Legal Description of BOE Property 
B -- Legal Description of City Property 
C -- Site Plan Reflecting “Current Site” and “New Site” for Northport Property 
D -- Time Schedule 
 
Attachment “I”--Insurance 
  



1 
1/2596074.4 

  
 
 

MASTER DEVELOPMENT AND BROKERAGE SERVICES AGREEMENT  
 

  
 
 
THIS MASTER DEVELOPMENT AND BROKERAGE SERVICES AGREEMENT 

(this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the ___ day of ____________, 2014 by and 
between CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, an Alabama municipal corporation (the 
“City”), and DANIEL CORPORATION, an Alabama corporation (“Daniel”). 

 
R E C I T A L S: 

The City is the owner of the City Property, as hereinafter defined, and has or will enter 
into an agreement by which the BOE, as hereinafter defined, will agree to sell and the City will 
have the right to purchase the BOE Property, as hereinafter defined, which City Property and 
BOE Property consist of approximately 46.3 acres, more or less, and is commonly known as 
Patchwork Farms. 

 
The City has determined that it would be necessary, proper and in the public interest to 

promote the economic and commercial development of Patchwork Farms in order to maintain a 
strong local economy, increase employment opportunities, broaden the City’s tax basis, increase 
revenues, provide necessary services to the residents of the City and thus improve the overall 
quality of life for all residents of the City. 

 
The City desires to engage Daniel to assist the City with the planning, design and 

development of Patchwork Farms as a mixed-use project which serves the community and 
creates long-term value for the City and its residents. 

 
Daniel has agreed to provide development management and brokerage services to the 

City with respect to Patchwork Farms in accordance with the terms and provisions of this 
Agreement. 

 
The parties desire to enter into this Agreement in order to set forth their understanding 

and agreements regarding the specific duties and responsibilities of each party hereto. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual undertakings, terms, 

conditions and agreements set forth in this Agreement and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the City and 
Daniel, the parties agree as follows: 

 



2 
1/2596074.4 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

1.01 Definitions.  In addition to the other defined terms set forth in this Agreement, the 
following terms shall have the meanings set forth below, which meanings shall be applicable to 
both the singular and plural forms and tenses of such terms: 

(a) Annual Budget.  The term “Annual Budget” shall mean and refer to each 
annual budget which Daniel will assist the City in preparing which will address any and all 
Common Expenses, as defined in the Restrictive Covenants, which would be provided and paid 
for by a property owners’ association established under the Restrictive Covenants, together with 
the annual costs and expenses of operating any such property owners’ association. 

(b) BOE.  The term “BOE” shall mean the City of Vestavia Hills Board of 
Education. 

(c) BOE Property.  The term “BOE Property” shall mean and refer to that 
certain real property owned by the BOE which is more particularly described in Exhibit A 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference which constitutes part of Patchwork Farms. 

(d) Building Permits Fees.  The term “Building Permit Fees” shall mean and 
refer to any and all building permit fees paid to the City during the Term (or any earlier 
termination of the Term as provided in Section 7.02 below) by the purchaser of any 
Development Parcel. 

(e) City Property.  The term “City Property” shall mean and refer to that 
certain real property owned by the City which is more particularly described in Exhibit B 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference which constitutes part of Patchwork Farms; 
provided, however, that with respect to the Northport Property, only that portion of the Northport 
Property which is not ultimately owned by Northport Holding, LLC shall be considered part of 
the City Property. 

(f) Consultants.  The term “Consultants” shall mean and refer to engineers, 
architects, landscape architects, land planners and other professionals to be selected and 
approved by the City (with the assistance of Daniel) and with whom Daniel or the City will enter 
into a contract for the performance of services relating to the preparation of the Plans as provided 
in Section 2.03. 

(g) DRS.  The initials “DRS” shall mean and refer to Daniel Realty Services, 
L.L.C., an Alabama limited liability company which is an affiliate of Daniel.   

(h) Development Budget.  The term “Development Budget” shall mean the 
budget which Daniel shall assist the City in preparing with respect to the Development Costs, as 
provided in Section 2.06 below.   

(i) Development Costs.  The term “Development Costs” shall mean (a) all 
costs and expenses of Consultants involved in the preparation and implementation of the Plans, 
(b) all costs and expenses relating to the construction of the Infrastructure, (c) marketing costs 



3 
1/2596074.4 

with respect to the marketing and sale of the Development Parcels and (d) any and all other costs 
and expenses set forth in the Development Budget approved by the City. 

(j) Development Parcel.  The term “Development Parcel” shall mean and 
refer to each portion of Patchwork Farms (other than the Northport Property) which may be sold 
by the City to any purchaser for the future development of retail and office uses and related 
improvements and possible residential uses (including assisted living facilities). 

(k) Established Land Value.  The term “Established Land Value” shall have 
the meaning given to such term in Section 2.12(b)(iii) below. 

(l) Fiscal Impact Analysis.  The term “Fiscal Impact Analysis” shall mean 
and refer to a projection or estimate of revenues to be generated to the City (and the BOE) 
through ad valorem taxes, sales taxes, use taxes, rent and other taxes, building permit fees, 
license fees and other sources of revenue which may be derived from the sale and development 
of the Development Parcels, which shall be prepared by Daniel and submitted to the City from 
time to time pursuant to the terms and provisions of Section 2.08 below. 

(m) Gross Sales Price.  The term “Gross Sales Price” shall mean and refer to 
the total gross sales price paid by any third party purchaser to the City in connection with the sale 
by the City of a Development Parcel to such third party purchaser. 

(n) Infrastructure.  The term “Infrastructure” shall mean and refer to all 
paved, public or private roads, sidewalks, parks, trails, preserves, nature areas, lighting, 
landscaping, hardscape (i.e., entrance walls, water features and other improvements made for the 
benefit of the overall Patchwork Farms development), signage and utility lines, pipes, wiring, 
conduit, equipment, fixtures, and appurtenances and any other apparatus related thereto which 
may be reasonably necessary or desirable for the future development of any of the Development 
Parcels and the Nature Park Parcel, as defined in the PUD Plan, pursuant to the Master Plan. 

(o) Infrastructure Plans.  The term “Infrastructure” shall mean and refer to 
the plans and specifications to be prepared by the Consultants for any of the Infrastructure.  In 
addition, the Infrastructure Plans shall include plans for the development, improvement, use, and 
upkeep of the “Nature Park Parcel”, as defined in the PUD Plan. 

(p) Master Plan.  The term “Master Plan” shall mean and refer to the Master 
Plan to be prepared for Patchwork Farms which will be submitted to the City and the BOE for 
approval, as the same may be amended from time to time with the consent and approval of the 
City and the BOE.  The Master Plan shall reflect contemplated or proposed principal land uses, 
densities (allowed number of units or square footage of buildings within a Development Parcel), 
other land planning criteria (i.e., building heights, setbacks, drainage and retention areas) and 
proposed Infrastructure for the development of Patchwork Farms in a manner which will reflect a 
class-A planned development which creates a long-term value for the City with an emphasis on 
generating long-term local revenues for the City and a development which will benefit the 
residents of the City in the form of services, jobs and quality of life. 

(q) Northport Property.  The term “Northport Property” shall mean and 
refer to either (i) that certain real property which the City has previously sold, transferred and 



4 
1/2596074.4 

conveyed to Northport Holding, LLC which is depicted as the “Current Site” in Exhibit C 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference or (ii) to the extent the City and Northport 
Holding, LLC agree to an exchange of property within Patchwork Farms pursuant to the terms of 
that certain Development Agreement dated February 27, 2014 between the City and Northport 
Holding, LLC, then the term “Northport Property” shall mean and refer to the real property 
depicted as the “New Site” on Exhibit C hereto. 

(r) Outside Broker.  The term “Outside Broker” means any real estate 
broker, licensee or sales agent which is not affiliated with Daniel or DRS. 

(s) Plans.  The term “Plans” shall mean and refer collectively to (i) the 
Infrastructure Plans, the Development Budget, and the Master Plan, as approved by the City and 
(ii) any amendments to the PUD Plan which have been approved by the City (including the 
City’s Planning Commission and City Council, if applicable). 

(t) Patchwork Farms.  The term “Patchwork Farms” shall mean collectively, 
the BOE Property, the City Property and both the “Current Site” and the “New Site” comprising 
the Northport Property.  

(u) Property.  The term “Property” shall mean, collectively, the BOE 
Property and the City Property.   

(v) PUD Plan. The term “PUD Plan” shall mean the Planned Unit 
Development Zoning Application and Development Plan for Patchwork Farms approved by the 
City pursuant to Ordinance No. 2253, together with any and all modifications and amendments 
thereto approved by the City. 

(w) Restrictive Covenants.  The term “Restrictive Covenants” shall mean 
collectively, (a) the Patchwork Farms Commercial Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and 
Restrictions dated April 4, 2012 and recorded in Bk:  LR201212, Page 19387 in the Office of the 
Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, Alabama, together with any amendments thereto approved 
from time to time by the City and (b) any other restrictive covenants which may be adopted for 
any of Patchwork Farms by the City or BOE. 

(x) Right of First Offer.  The term “Right of First Offer” shall have the 
meaning given to such term in Section 6.01(a) below. 

(y) Right of First Refusal.  The term “Right of First Refusal” shall have the 
meaning given to such term in Section 6.02 below. 

(z) Term.  The term “Term” shall have the meaning given to such term in 
Section 7.01 below. 

(aa) Time Schedule.  The term “Time Schedule” shall mean and refer to the 
schedule attached hereto as Exhibit D and incorporated herein by reference which sets forth the 
dates by which the Plans will be submitted by Daniel to the City for review and approval. 



5 
1/2596074.4 

ARTICLE II 
APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF DANIEL 

2.01 Appointment.  The City hereby appoints Daniel, and Daniel hereby accepts 
appointment, as an independent contractor, to provide the services hereinafter described for the 
Property. Notwithstanding anything provided herein to the contrary, the City acknowledges and 
agrees that Daniel shall not be deemed to have assumed any duties, obligations or liabilities or 
otherwise guaranteed or warranted any materials or work of any Consultants, contractors or other 
parties (or any subcontractors thereof) which provide any services, materials, labor or supplies in 
connection with the development of the Property.   It is expressly understood and agreed that in 
the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, Daniel is and shall at all times be an 
independent contractor. Daniel, as an independent contractor, shall be solely responsible for its 
respective employees and neither Daniel nor any of its employees shall at any time represent to 
any third party that such employees are the agents or employees of the City. Daniel shall take all 
steps necessary to ensure that its employees are not deemed to be employees of the City. Daniel 
shall be solely responsible for the hiring and termination of the employment of any of its 
employees whose services are utilized in connection with the Property and shall be solely 
responsible for all compensation and benefits of any kind, terms and conditions of employment, 
liability for any form of contribution of payroll taxes and compliance with statutes governing 
employment practices, workmen’s compensation insurance and all employer-employee matters.  

2.02 Duties of Daniel.  During the Term (or any earlier termination of the Term), 
Daniel’s duties hereunder include all of the duties and responsibilities set forth in Sections 2.03 
through 2.16 hereof.  

2.03 Consultants.  Daniel shall assist the City in the selection of the Consultants for 
the preparation of the Plans and shall coordinate all activities between and among such 
Consultants, the City and the BOE relating to the preparation and finalization of the Plans and 
the approval of the Plans by the City and the BOE.  If required by the City, the Consultants shall 
be hired directly by Daniel and the fees and expenses of such Consultants approved by the City 
shall be paid as provided in Section 3.01 below.  The City shall have final decision making 
authority on the selection of all Consultants.  Daniel shall not have any authority to hire or 
engage any Consultants for the City unless the City approves in writing the hiring of such 
Consultants by Daniel. 

2.04 Master Plan. Daniel will serve as a principal member of a strategic planning and 
development team comprised of the Consultants, the City and the BOE for the planning of the 
development of Patchwork Farms and the creation of the Master Plan.  Contemporaneously 
herewith, Daniel shall, with the City, the BOE and those Consultants approved by the City, begin 
the preparation of a Master Plan for all of Patchwork Farms.  The Master Plan must be approved 
by both the City and BOE.  The Time Schedule sets forth an estimated timetable reflecting the 
process for commencement of planning activities for the development of Master Plan through the 
point at which the final Master Plan will be submitted to the City and the BOE for final approval.  
The City and BOE have sole and final approval rights of the Master Plan and the mix of uses 
contemplated with Patchwork Farms.  Any modification to the Master Plan during the Term 
must be approved by Daniel, the City and the BOE. 



6 
1/2596074.4 

2.05 PUD Plan Amendments. In connection with the preparation and approval of the 
Master Plan, Daniel shall recommend to the City amendments, if any, which may be necessary to 
be made to the PUD Plan to accommodate the development and use of Patchwork Farms in 
accordance with the Master Plan approved by the City and the BOE.  Daniel shall assist the City 
with the preparation of such amendments and the presentation of the same to the City’s Planning 
Commission and City Council, as well as attendance at any charrettes or public forums, if any, 
held with respect to any such amendments to the PUD Plan.   

2.06 Infrastructure Plans and Development Budget. Contemporaneously with the 
finalization of the Master Plan, Daniel shall assist the City in the preparation of the Infrastructure 
Plans by the Consultants for any Infrastructure reflected on the Master Plan.  All Infrastructure 
Plans shall be subject to the City’s review and approval.  In connection with the finalization of 
the Infrastructure Plans, Daniel shall also assist the City in the preparation of the initial 
Development Budget.  The Development Budget shall include all Development Costs and must 
be approved by the City.  Upon approval of the Infrastructure Plans and Development Budget by 
the City, Daniel shall, as provided in Section 2.09 below, assist the City in the implementation of 
the same. 

2.07 Annual Budgets.  Promptly following the City’s approval of the Plans, Daniel 
shall assist the City in the preparation of an Annual Budget for the operation of Patchwork 
Farms.  Each year thereafter throughout the Term, Daniel shall assist the City in the preparation 
of subsequent Annual Budgets for Patchwork Farms.  Each Annual Budget must be approved by 
the City.   

2.08 Fiscal Impact Analysis and City Incentives.  Promptly following the City’s 
approval of the Plans, Daniel shall prepare and submit to the City a Fiscal Impact Analysis.  The 
Fiscal Impact Analysis shall reflect the generation of recurring revenues to the City and the BOE 
which will support the BOE school system as well as generate future revenues for the benefit of 
the City.  The Fiscal Impact Analysis shall be updated from time to time by Daniel to reflect the 
revenue impact to the City (and BOE) of any sales or development of any of the Development 
Parcels as well as revenue projections for future years.  Daniel will also recommend to the City 
funding alternatives and proposed transaction structures to address the physical impact of the 
development of the Development Parcels.  Daniel will provide the City with guidance 
concerning tax credits and other enhancements and any public sector incentives which may be 
provided to developers of any of the Development Parcels; provided, however, that in no event 
shall the City be obligated to provide any tax credits; enhancements or public sector 
enhancements to any developer of any of the Development Parcels.  

2.09 Management and Coordination of Construction Activities.  

(a) Upon approval of the Plans, Daniel shall coordinate with the City and its 
selected contractors (as approved by the City) for the implementation of the Plans utilizing 
Consultants approved by the City.  In connection therewith, Daniel shall act as the City’s 
primary liaison with, and coordinate the activities of, all Consultants and contractors approved 
by the City as well as any other parties performing any work in connection with the construction 
of the Infrastructure.  The City shall determine if and when any Infrastructure Work will be 
undertaken at Patchwork Farms.  



7 
1/2596074.4 

(b) In connection with any Infrastructure work to be undertaken (or paid for) 
by the City, Daniel shall assist the City in: 

(i) Selecting contractors to perform such Infrastructure work; 

(ii) Providing value-engineering with respect to any such 
Infrastructure work; 

(iii) Pricing and bidding of any such Infrastructure work;  

(iv) Coordinating Consultants and contractors during 
construction of any such Infrastructure work;  

(v) Establishing schedules for the commencement and 
completion of any such Infrastructure work; 

(vi) Monitoring construction progress of any such Infrastructure 
work, including making regular job-site visits with representatives of the City,  
and providing the City with on-going advice, as necessary, regarding whether the 
construction process is proceeding in accordance with the approved Infrastructure 
Plans and Development Budget; 

(vii) Attending regular progress meetings with the City, 
Consultants and contractors performing any of such Infrastructure work; 

(viii) If requested by the City, reviewing invoices and billing 
statements from contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, vendors, Consultants and 
other persons performing any of such Infrastructure work; and 

(ix) Coordinating with all contractors performing any of such 
Infrastructure work regarding the maintenance of insurance which satisfies all 
requirements of the City.  In connection therewith, all such insurance shall name 
Daniel and the City (and the BOE with respect to the BOE Property) as 
“additional insured” on a primary and non-contributory basis and shall endeavor 
to cause certificates thereof to be delivered to the City and the BOE, as applicable, 
which certificates shall also indicate that all policies (including worker’s 
compensation) have been endorsed so that the insurer waives any and all rights of 
subrogation against Daniel, the City and the BOE.  

(c) If any Infrastructure work will be performed by any purchaser of any 
Development Tract, Daniel shall assist the City in overseeing that any such Infrastructure work is 
undertaken and completed in accordance with the Plans. 

(d)   Daniel shall assist the City in the review of all development plans of all 
purchasers of any of the Development Parcels in order to assure compliance with the Master 
Plan. 



8 
1/2596074.4 

(e) As provided in the Restrictive Covenants, the development of Patchwork 
Farms shall implement “Green Building Construction Standards”, as defined in the Restrictive 
Covenants.  Daniel agrees to assist and recommend to the City methods for implementation of 
such Green Building Construction Standards with respect to the undertaking and completion of 
the Infrastructure and shall assist purchasers and prospective purchasers of any of the 
Development Parcels in the implementation of such Green Building Construction Standards in 
all buildings and other improvements to be constructed on any of the Development Parcels.  
Furthermore, Daniel shall coordinate with the City and the purchasers of any Development 
Tracts the undertaking of all improvements to any Development Parcels, including, without 
limitation, assisting such purchaser in the design review process, permitting and build-out of 
improvements on any Development Parcel. 

(f) To the extent the City and Daniel mutually agree that any Infrastructure 
work will be undertaken by Daniel, then the City and Daniel shall either enter into an 
amendment to this Agreement or enter into a new agreement setting forth the manner in which 
the Infrastructure work will be undertaken by Daniel, how the Development Costs with respect 
to such Infrastructure work will be paid by the City and shall include a mutually agreed upon fee 
to be paid by the City to Daniel for such work and services, which fee shall be in addition to the 
fees set forth in this Agreement. 

2.10 Restrictive Covenants. 

(a) Daniel shall assist the City in the preparation of, or the amendment of, any 
Restrictive Covenants affecting any of Patchwork Farms to the extent necessary to implement 
the Master Plan approved by City and the BOE.  The City shall retain control of all architectural 
review committees as well as rights to appoint and remove board members and officers of any 
property owners’ associations established under the Restrictive Covenants.  To the extent 
required by the City, Daniel shall provide insight to the City as to architectural review functions 
and, if requested by the City, assist in architectural reviews for any proposed development of any 
of the Development Parcels. 

(b) The parties acknowledge and agree that the Restrictive Covenants shall 
provide or be amended to reflect that commencement of construction of a building on any 
Development Parcel sold by the City to any party (including Daniel pursuant to the exercise of 
Right of First Offer) must be commenced on or before twelve (12) months following the closing 
of the sale of such Development Parcel and that construction of such building must be completed 
on or before twenty-four (24) months from the date a building permit for such construction work 
has been issued by the City.  The Restrictive Covenants shall also provide if construction has not 
commenced or been completed by the required dates set forth above, the City may repurchase 
such Development Parcel at a purchase price equal to ninety percent (90%) of the original 
purchase price paid to the City by the first purchaser of such Development Parcel. 

2.11 Marketing Materials.  Daniel will assist the City with the design, development 
and production of marketing materials for the development and sale of the Development Parcels 
in accordance with the Master Plan and shall otherwise coordinate and assist the City with public 
relations and marketing for the Development Parcels to insure a consistent delivery of such 



9 
1/2596074.4 

marketing materials to the appropriate parties.  The cost of such marketing materials shall be 
included in the Development Budget and shall be paid for by the City. 

2.12 Marketing and Sale of Development Parcels.  

(a) During the Term, the City hereby appoints DRS as its sole marketing and 
sales representative for all of Patchwork Farms.  The City shall participate in all major decision-
making matters relating to the marketing and sale of any of the Development Parcels.  All 
inquiries for the possible purchase of any of the Development Parcels received by the City shall 
be referred to DRS.  DRS shall be entitled to receive those fees and compensation set forth in 
Section 4.03 below with respect to the sale of any of the Development Parcels. 

(b) As the sales and marketing representative for all of the Development 
Parcels, DRS shall undertake the following: 

(i) DRS shall provide sufficient experienced personnel to 
develop and carry out a marketing program for the sale of the Development 
Parcels.  Such services shall include preparing market analyses, pricing schedules 
and establishing a marketing and sales program for the development and/or sale of 
all of the Development Parcels; 

(ii) DRS shall be responsible for all sales activities, including 
the diligent pursuit of all prospects for the sale of all of the Development Parcels.  
DRS shall make all necessary proposals, contacts, sales calls and related sales 
activities to carry out such duties.  In connection therewith, DRS will be 
responsible for the day-to-day costs of implementing such sales and marketing 
activities, including engagement and employment of sales persons, sales licensees 
and administrative personnel.  All salaries and compensation payable to any 
employees, sales persons, sales licensees and administrative personnel of DRS 
shall be paid solely by DRS; and 

(iii) In connection with its marketing activities for the 
Development Parcels, following (or contemporaneously with) the approval of the 
Plans by the City, DRS shall recommend to the City the estimated land value (the 
“Established Land Value”) for each of the Development Parcels.  The Established 
Land Value for each Development Parcel shall be approved by the City and shall 
be subject to modification  from time to time, as determined by the City, in its 
sole and absolute discretion; provided, however, that (1) the Established Land 
Value for any of the BOE Property must be no less than the purchase price paid 
by the BOE to purchase the BOE Property and (2) the initial Established Land 
Value established for the Development Parcels shall not be subject to change by 
the City during the ROFO Period, as defined in Section 6.01(a) below.  All 
proposals to be made by DRS to third parties for the sale of any of the 
Development Parcels shall utilize the then applicable Established Land Value for 
such Development Parcel (subject to the remaining terms and provisions of this 
Section 2.12(b)(iii)).  DRS shall assist the City in determining whether any 
proposed purchaser can be required to perform some or all of the Infrastructure 



10 
1/2596074.4 

work applicable to the Development Parcel to be purchased by such purchaser and 
how to adjust the Established Land Value for such Development Parcel to the 
extent the proposed purchaser will perform any Infrastructure work.  
Alternatively, if the City will perform any Infrastructure work for the benefit of 
any Development Parcel, then DRS will assist the City in determining the amount 
by which the Established Land Value for any Development Parcel benefited by 
such Infrastructure should be increased as a result of the performance of such 
Infrastructure work by the City.  The City shall have the sole and exclusive right 
at any time to adjust the Established Land Value for any Development Parcel as a 
result of any Infrastructure work performed (or to be performed) by either the 
City or a third party purchaser for the applicable Development Parcel. 

(c) In connection with the sale and marketing of the Development Parcels, 
DRS shall assist the City in the preparation of a general form sales contract to be utilized by the 
City with respect to the sale of any of the Development Parcels.  The final form of the proposed 
sales contract must be approved by the City and, following such approval, DRS shall utilize such 
form sales contract in all offers or solicitations it makes to sell any portion of the Development 
Parcels. 

2.13 Joint Venture. The City will consider (subject to appropriate approvals), on an 
individual Development Parcel-by-Development Parcel basis, the utilization of joint ventures or 
other participation arrangements with purchasers of any of the Development Parcels which may 
involve, among other things, the contribution by the City of a Development Parcel into a venture 
in exchange for a participant interest.  In connection therewith, Daniel shall provide to the City 
information from any prospective purchaser of any of the Development Parcels concerning the 
possible joint venture or participation by the City in the development and sharing of revenues 
and profits derived from the development of any Development Parcel. 

2.14 Accounting.  Daniel shall provide to the City, at least on a monthly basis, or at 
such time as is otherwise mutually agreed between Daniel and the City, cost accounting and 
progress reports relating to the implementation of the Plans and all other matters for which the 
City may have any financial responsibility under this Agreement. 

2.15 Time Schedule.  Daniel covenants and agrees to use commercially reasonable 
efforts to cause all matters set forth on the Time Schedule to be satisfied in accordance with the 
deadlines (dates) set forth on the Time Schedule. 

2.16 Employees.  Subject to the provisions of Section 2.09(f) above, each of Daniel 
and DRS shall provide, at their respective sole cost and expense, all necessary personnel of 
Daniel required in connection with the performance of the duties and obligations of Daniel and 
DRS set forth in Sections 2.03 through 2.15 above.  Except as otherwise provided in Section 
2.09(f) above, neither Daniel nor DRS shall be entitled to any reimbursement from the City for 
employee time, expenses, salaries or other compensation of any nature with respect to any of the 
foregoing. 



11 
1/2596074.4 

ARTICLE III 
COSTS AND EXPENSES 

3.01 Initial Costs and Expenses.  

(a) From and after the date of this Agreement, the costs and expenses of all 
Consultants selected and approved by the City (regardless of whether such Consultants are hired 
as independent contractors by Daniel or the City) to prepare the Plans shall be paid as follows: 

(i) The first $15,000.00 in such costs shall be paid by the City;  

(ii) Daniel shall be responsible for any such costs and expenses 
(up to a maximum of $30,000.00 in expenditures by Daniel) in excess of the 
$15,000.00 paid by the City pursuant to Section 3.01(a)(i) above; and 

(iii) Any costs and expenses for Consultants in excess of 
$45,000.00 must be agreed upon in writing by both the City and Daniel prior to 
incurring any such costs (and the determination of who shall be responsible for 
such costs and expenses). 

(b) The forgoing shall be applicable only to the costs and expenses of 
Consultants approved by the City in connection with the preparation of the Plans.  No out-of-
pocket expenses or employee salary or compensation of any kind for Daniel or the City shall be 
subject to payment or reimbursement pursuant to the provisions of this Section 3.01. 

3.02 Additional Costs and Expenses. The costs and expenses of constructing the 
Infrastructure, the development of any of the Property and all Development Costs shall be paid 
for solely by the City; provided, however, that in no event shall (a) either party have any 
obligation to pay any costs and expenses other than as set forth in Section 3.01 above and (b) 
Daniel have any right to obligate the City to pay, or otherwise incur, any costs or expenses 
relating to Patchwork Farms except for those set forth in Section 3.01 above. 

ARTICLE IV 
FEES AND COMMISSIONS PAYABLE TO DANIEL AND DRS 

4.01 Initial Development Fee.  In consideration of the services to be provided 
hereunder by Daniel to the City, the City agrees to pay to Daniel an initial development fee of 
$60,000.00 (the “Initial Development Fee”), which fee shall be due and payable as follows: 

(a) On the date hereof, the City shall pay to Daniel $10,000.00 as the initial 
installment of the Initial Development Fee. 

(b) Commencing on the first day of each month after the date hereof and on 
the first day of each month thereafter for a total of ten (10) consecutive months, the City shall 
pay Daniel the remainder of the Initial Development Fee in monthly installments of $5,000.00 
per month. 



12 
1/2596074.4 

4.02 Deferred Development Fee.   

(a) Subject to the remaining terms and provisions of this Section 4.02, the 
City agrees to pay to Daniel, in addition to the Initial Development Fee, an additional 
development fee equal to $120,000.00 (the “Deferred Development Fee”), subject to and upon 
the following terms and conditions: 

(i) Commencing on the date hereof and continuing until the 
expiration (or earlier termination) of the Term, the City shall pay to Daniel until 
such time as all of the Deferred Development Fee has been paid in full (1) fifty 
percent (50%) of any Building Permit Fees received by the City with respect to 
the construction of improvements on any Development Parcels sold to any 
purchasers (including Daniel and its affiliates) by the City at any time after the 
date hereof and (2) that portion of the Building Permit Fees described in Section 
4.02(a)(ii) below;   

(ii) Notwithstanding anything provided in this Agreement to 
the contrary, to the extent Northport Holding, LLC elects to accept the “New 
Site” as the Northport Property (and reconveys to the City the “Current Site”), 
then the City agrees to pay to Daniel twenty-five percent (25%) of any Building 
Permit Fees received by the City from Northport Holding, LLC or any affiliates 
thereof with respect to the construction of improvements on the “New Site”.  To 
the extent Northport Holding, LLC elects to retain the “Current Site” as the 
Northport Property, then no portion of the Building Permit Fees paid to the City 
by Northport Holding, LLC or any affiliates thereof with respect to the “Current 
Site” shall be paid to Daniel as any portion of the Deferred Development Fee;  

(iii) Except as otherwise provided to the contrary in Section 
4.02(b) below, if, for any reason, the Deferred Development Fee has not been 
paid in full by the expiration (or earlier termination) of the Term, the City shall 
have no further obligation to pay to Daniel any remaining balance due of the 
Deferred Development Fee and the City’s obligations under this Section 4.02 
shall be deemed cancelled, terminated, null and void; and 

(iv) As provided in Section 7.02 below, the City has the right to 
cancel and terminate this Agreement prior to the expiration of the Term and, 
except as provided in Section 4.02(b) below, upon the expiration (or earlier 
termination) of the Term, no further amounts of the Deferred Development Fee 
shall be payable to Daniel. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything provided to the contrary in Section 4.02(a) 
above, upon the expiration (or earlier termination) of the Term, the obligations of the City to pay 
to Daniel any portion of the Deferred Development Fee shall continue with respect to any 
Building Permit Fees paid to the City by the purchaser(s) (including Daniel and its affiliates) of 
any Development Parcel(s) sold by the City prior to the expiration (or earlier termination) of the 
Term if such Building Permit Fees are paid to the City within twelve (12) months from the 



13 
1/2596074.4 

closing date of the sale of such Development Parcel(s) even though the Term of this Agreement 
has expired (or been terminated by the City). 

4.03 Brokerage Fees.   

(a) Subject to the terms and provisions of Sections 4.03(b) and 6.01(b) below, 
in consideration of the marketing and sales services to be provided and performed by DRS in 
connection with the sale of any of the Development Parcels, the City covenants and agrees to pay 
to DRS at each closing of the sale of any of the Development Parcels by the City to a third party 
a real estate sales commission equal to five percent (5%) of the Gross Sales Price paid by such 
third party to the City for a Development Parcel.  The aforesaid sales commission shall be 
deemed earned by DRS only if the closing of the sale of a Development Parcel occurs and the 
purchase price for such Development Parcel is paid to the City by such third party purchaser.  
DRS agrees to execute and deliver to the City such affidavits and lien waivers as may be 
reasonable required by the City to evidence the payment of the sales commission required to be 
paid to DRS by the City pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Section 4.03(a). 

(b) Subject to the terms and provisions of Section 6.01(b) below, to the extent 
any Outside Brokers are involved in the sale by the City of any of the Development Parcels, then 
(i) in lieu of the commission payable to DRS pursuant to Section 4.03(a) above, the City agrees 
to pay to DRS at the closing of the sale of such Development Parcel by the City to a third party 
purchaser a real estate sales commission equal to six percent (6%) of the Gross Sales Price paid 
by such third party purchaser to the City for such Development Parcel, (ii) DRS shall be required 
to pay from the real estate sales commission paid to it by the City any all fees which may be due 
and payable to such Outside Broker and (iii) DRS does hereby indemnify, agree to defend and 
hold the City harmless from and against all claims, demands, actions, causes of action, losses, 
liabilities and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, suffered, paid or 
incurred by the City as a result of any claims made or brought by any Outside Broker against the 
City with respect to the payment of any real estate sales commission owing in connection with 
the sale of any Development Parcel by the City to any third party purchaser.  The City shall have 
no obligation to pay any amount to any Outside Broker.  DRS and any such Outside Broker shall 
be required to execute and deliver to the City such affidavits and lien waivers as may be 
originally required by the City to evidence the payments of the foregoing commissions. 

(c) Upon the expiration (or earlier termination) of the Term, the obligations of 
the City to pay to DRS the real estate sales commission set forth in Sections 4.03(a) and 4.03(b) 
above shall continue with respect to any contracts entered into by the City prior to the expiration 
(or earlier termination of the Term) with any third party purchaser for the sale of any of the 
Development Parcels which have not closed as of the expiration (or earlier termination) of the 
Term.   

4.04 Other Compensation to DRS.  Except as expressly set forth in the Agreement, 
the City shall have no obligation to pay any other costs or expenses for services rendered by 
DRS pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  Furthermore, DRS shall be solely 
responsible for all costs and expenses of its employees and any third parties engaged by DRS 
with respect to Patchwork Farms. 



14 
1/2596074.4 

ARTICLE V 
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 

5.01 Required Insurance.  

(a) Daniel shall maintain during throughout the Term of this Agreement, for 
the benefit of the City and Daniel, the insurance policies with the indicated limits set forth in 
Attachment “I” hereto and incorporated herein by reference (or such other insurance or such 
increased limits as may be mutually agreed to by Daniel and the City).  Each policy of insurance 
(except worker’s compensation) shall be endorsed to include the City as an “additional insured” 
on a primary and non-contributory basis. 

(b) Daniel will deliver certificates of insurance to the City, which certificates 
shall evidence the foregoing types of insurance. Except for workers’ compensation and 
employer’s liability insurance, the certificates shall indicate that the insurance policies have been 
endorsed to include the City as an additional insured on a primary and non-contributory basis. 
The certificates shall also indicate that all policies (including worker’s compensation) have been 
endorsed so that the insurer waives any and all rights of subrogation against the City. 

(c) Each policy of insurance shall be issued by an insurance carrier(s) having 
an A.M. Best Company rating of A-, Class VII, or better, and shall provide that the City shall 
receive at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of any material change or termination of such 
insurance policies. 

5.02 City Indemnity. Subject to the remaining terms and provisions of this Section 
5.02, the City agrees, to the extent allowed by applicable law, to indemnify, defend and hold 
Daniel and DRS harmless from any claims, demands, causes of action, losses, damages, fines, 
penalties, liabilities, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, 
consultants’ fees and expenses and court costs, sustained, incurred or asserted against Daniel or 
DRS caused by or arising out of (a) the breach by the City of, or the failure of the City to 
perform properly, the duties and obligations required of the City under this Agreement or (b) any 
malfeasance, negligence, gross negligence or willful misconduct of the City.  Daniel and DRS 
shall give immediate written notice to the City in the event that any claims, action, suits or 
proceedings, as stated above in this Section 5.02 or filed or brought against Daniel or DRS. 
Notwithstanding anything provided in this Section 5.02 to the contrary, to the extent the 
insurance coverage maintained by Daniel pursuant to the terms and provisions of Section 5.01 
above cover any claim, demand, cause of action, loss, damage, fine, penalty, liability, cost or 
expense which the City has agreed to indemnify Daniel or DRS against hereunder, then the 
City’s obligations to indemnify Daniel and DRS pursuant to this Section 5.02 shall not be 
applicable and the City shall have no further obligations under this Section 5.02.  To the extent 
any insurance coverage maintained by Daniel pursuant to the terms and provisions of Section 
5.01 above does not cover any claim, demand, cause of action, loss, damage, fine, penalty, 
liability, cost or expense which the City has agreed to indemnify Daniel or DRS against 
hereunder, then the City shall, at its sole cost and expense, defend any such actions, suits, claims 
or proceedings with counsel selected by the City and reasonably approved in writing by Daniel 
or DRS.  The terms and provisions of this Section 5.02 shall survive the expiration (or earlier 
termination) of this Agreement. 



15 
1/2596074.4 

5.03 Daniel and DRS Indemnity. Daniel and DRS, jointly and severally, hereby agree 
to indemnify, defend and hold the City harmless from any and all claims, demands, causes of 
action, losses, damages, fines, penalties, liabilities, costs and expenses, including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and expenses, consultants’ fees and expenses and court costs, sustained, incurred 
or asserted against the City caused by or arising out of (a) the breach by Daniel or DRS of, or the 
failure of Daniel or DRS to perform properly, the duties and obligations required of Daniel or 
DRS under this Agreement or (b) any malfeasance, negligence, gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of Daniel or DRS. The City shall give immediate written notice to Daniel and DRS 
in the event that any claims, actions, suits or proceedings, as stated above in this Section 5.03, or 
filed or brought against the City. To the extent any insurance coverage maintained by Daniel 
pursuant to the terms and provisions of Section 5.01 above does not cover any claim, demand, 
cause of action, loss, damage, fine, penalty, liability, cost or expense which Daniel or DRS has 
agreed to indemnify the City against hereunder, then Daniel shall, as its sole cost and expense, 
defend any such actions, suits, claims or proceeding with counsel selected by Daniel and 
reasonably approved in writing by the City.  The terms and provisions of this Section 5.03 shall 
survive the expiration (or earlier termination) of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE VI 
RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER AND RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL 

6.01 Right of First Offer. 

(a) Following the approval of the Plans by the City and continuing thereafter 
for 120 days (the “ROFO Period”), the City grants to Daniel a right of first offer (the “Right of 
First Offer”) to purchase and acquire any of the Development Parcels at a purchase price equal to 
ninety-five percent (95%) of the then applicable Established Land Value for such Development 
Parcel.  To the extent Daniel desires to exercise the Right of First Offer, then (i) Daniel must 
provide written notice to the City (the “ROFO Notice”) during the ROFO Period identifying the 
Development Parcel(s) Daniel desires to purchase and (ii) Daniel and the City shall enter into the 
standard form sales contract approved by the City for the sale of such Development Parcel(s).  
The closing of the sale of any Development Parcel by the City to Daniel shall occur on or before 
ninety (90) days from the date the ROFO Notice is given by Daniel to the City.  In the event the 
City expresses an interest to participate in the financing or ownership of any Development Parcel 
for which Daniel has exercised its Right of First Offer, then the parties agree to negotiate in good 
faith for such financing or ownership position.  In connection therewith, Daniel will offer to the 
City the opportunity to provide equity funding or financing for such opportunity on terms Daniel 
reasonably believes in good faith it can obtain from other equity partners or financial sources.  If 
the City does not wish to participate (such decision to be made promptly, but in the event within 
no more than ten (10) days after Daniel has given the ROFO Notice) in such equity ownership or 
financing, Daniel may pursue other equity participants, financial partners or financing sources on 
substantially the same terms as those offered to the City.  If the terms which Daniel desires to 
accept from another equity participant, financial partner or lender vary materially from those first 
offered to the City, Daniel will again offer to the City the opportunity to reconsider becoming an 
equity participant or financial partner on such revised terms before proceeding to a final 
agreement with its other equity participant, financial partner or lender.  The City must notify 
Daniel of its decision to participate based on the revised terms not more than ten (10) days after 



16 
1/2596074.4 

Daniel has offered to the City the revised terms as an equity participant, financial partner or 
lender in any proposed development by Daniel of any of the Development Parcels. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything provided herein to the contrary, in the event 
Daniel purchases any Development Parcel(s) pursuant to the exercise of the Right of First Offer, 
then no brokerage commissions shall be payable to Daniel or any Outside Broker in connection 
with the sale of such Development Parcel(s) by the City to Daniel. 

6.02 Right of First Refusal.  Following the expiration of the Right of First Offer 
Period and continuing for nine (9) months thereafter (the “Right of First Refusal Period”), if the 
City desires to sell any Development Parcel to a third party purchaser at a sales price which is 
less than ninety-five percent (95%) of the Established Land Value for such Development Parcel, 
then the City shall provide to Daniel a copy of such proposed sales contract, offer or letter of 
intent for such sale (the “Offer Notice”).  Daniel shall have the right (the “Right of First 
Refusal”), at its option, to purchase the applicable Development Parcel at the same price and on 
the same terms as set forth in the Offer Notice.  In order to exercise the Right of First Refusal, (i) 
Daniel must provide written notice to the City  no later than ten (10) days after the giving of the 
Offer Notice by the City to Daniel and (ii) Daniel and the City shall enter into a new sales 
contract containing the same terms and provisions as set forth in the Offer Notice.  Should 
Daniel fail to timely exercise the Right of First Refusal or fail to enter into a new contract with 
the City for the purchase of such Development Parcel with (10) days following the giving of the 
Offer Notice, Daniel shall be deemed to have irrevocably waived the Right of First Refusal with 
respect to the Development Parcel described in the Offer Notice and shall, upon request of the 
City, execute any and all documents reasonably required by the City to evidence the waiver of 
such Right of First Refusal.  The Right of First Refusal shall automatically terminate, be deemed 
null and void and of no further force or effect upon the expiration (or earlier termination) of this 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE VII 
TERM, DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 

7.01 Term.  Subject to the terms and provisions of Section 7.02 below, the term of this 
Agreement (“Term”) shall commence as of the date hereof and shall continue for three (3) years 
thereafter, at which time this Agreement shall terminate and neither party shall have any further 
obligations or liabilities hereunder except as otherwise set forth in Sections 4.02(b), 4.03(c) and 
5.03 hereof.  If, upon the termination of the Term, all of the Deferred Development Fee has not 
been paid  to Daniel, the City shall have no further obligation to pay the unpaid balance of such 
Deferred Development Fee.  

7.02 Early Termination.  Notwithstanding anything provided in this Agreement to the 
contrary, if, by the date which is eighteen (18) months following the date on which the City has 
approved the Plans, the City has not closed the sale of at least one (1) Development Parcel with 
any purchaser (including Daniel to the extent Daniel has exercised the Right of First Offer or 
Right of First Refusal with respect to any Development Parcel(s)), then the City shall have the 
unilateral right, in its sole and absolute discretion, at any time thereafter to cancel and terminate 
this Agreement in which event any portion of the Deferred Development Fee which has not been 
paid to Daniel shall be deemed forfeited and the City shall have no further obligation or liability 



17 
1/2596074.4 

of any nature to pay to Daniel any such Deferred Development Fee which remains unpaid as of 
the date of termination of this Agreement; provided, however, that if the City elects to terminate 
this Agreement pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Section 7.02, then the provisions of 
Sections 4.02(b) and 4.03(c) above shall remain in full force and effect with respect to (a) any 
Development Parcels sold by the City to any purchaser (including Daniel or its affiliates) (in 
regard to the payment of the Deferred Development Fee as provided in Section 4.02(b) above) 
and (b) any pending contracts between the City and any third party purchaser (with regard to the 
payment of the real estate commissions set forth in Section 4.03(c) above).   

7.03 Default.  In the event of any default by either party hereto, which default is not 
cured within thirty (30) days following the giving of written notice of default (provided that no 
such notice of default shall be given in the event the City elects to exercise its early termination 
right set forth in Section 7.02 above), then the non-defaulting party shall have the right to 
exercise all rights and remedies available to such non-defaulting party at law or in equity and the 
non-defaulting shall be entitled to its reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses as provided in 
Section 8.11 below. 

ARTICLE VIII 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

8.01 Notices. All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall 
be served on all of the parties hereto at the following addresses: 

 
 If to the City:  City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
   513 Montgomery Highway 
   Vestavia Hills, AL 35216 
   Attention: Mr. Butch Zaragoza, Mayor 
   Fax (205) 978-0189 
   Email: butchzaragoze@ci.vestaviahills.al.us  

  And City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
   513 Montgomery Highway 
   Vestavia Hills, AL 35216 
   Attention: Mr. Jeff Downes, City Manager 
   Fax (205) 978-0189 
   Email: jdownes@vahal.org 

 With copies to:  Stephen R. Monk 
     Bradley Arant Boult Cummings LLP 
     One Federal Place 
     1819 Fifth Avenue North 
     Birmingham, AL 35203 
     Fax (205) 488-6429 
     Email: smonk@babc.com 



18 
1/2596074.4 

 And  Patrick H. Boone 
  215 Richard Arrington Jr. Blvd. N., Suite 705 
  Birmingham, AL 35203 
  Fax (205) 324-2295 
  Email: patrickboone@bellsouth.net 

 To Daniel or DRS:  Daniel Corporation 
     3660 Grandview Parkway 
     Suite 100 
     Birmingham, Alabama 35243 
     Attn: Doug Neil, Vice President 
     Fax:  (205) 443-4615 
     Email:  dneil@danielcorp.com 

 With copies to:  Daniel Corporation 
     3660 Grandview Parkway 
     Suite 100 
     Birmingham, Alabama 35243 
     Attn: Eric Johnson, Vice President 
     Fax:  (205) 443-6144 
     Email:  ejohnson@danielcorp.com 
 
Any such notices shall be deemed to be sufficiently given or served upon any party hereto when 
(i) sent by personal delivery to the address set forth above, (ii) deposited in the United States 
mail by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid and addressed as 
provided above, (iii) deposited with a nationally recognized overnight delivery courier service 
for next business day delivery and addressed as set forth above, (iv) sent by facsimile 
transmission during regular business hours of any business day, in which case notice shall be 
deemed given upon confirmation of transmission of such facsimile notice, or (v) sent by 
electronic mail (email) to the email address set forth above, in which case notice shall be 
deemed given upon confirmation of transmission of such email notice.  The above addresses 
may be changed by written notice to the other parties given in the manner set forth above. 

8.02 No Waiver. No waiver by the City or Daniel of any provision of this Agreement 
shall be deemed to be a waiver by either party of any other provision of this Agreement. No 
waiver by the City of any breach by Daniel shall be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach 
by Daniel of the same or any other provision. No waiver by Daniel of any breach by the City 
shall be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach by the City of the same or any other 
provision. The failure of the City or Daniel to insist at any time upon the strict performance of 
any covenant or agreement or to exercise any option, right, power or remedy contained in this 
Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver or a relinquishment thereof for the future. The 
City’s consent to or approval of any act by Daniel requiring the City’s consent or approval shall 
not be deemed to render unnecessary the obtaining of the City’s consent to or approval of any 
subsequent act of Daniel. Daniel’s consent to or approval of any act by the City requiring such 
party’s consent or approval shall not be deemed to render unnecessary the obtaining of such 
party’s consent to or approval of any subsequent act of the City. No waiver by the City or Daniel 



19 
1/2596074.4 

of any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been made unless such waiver is 
expressly stated in writing signed by the waiving party. 

8.03 Applicable Law. This Agreement and the rights of the parties hereunder shall be 
governed by and construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama. 

8.04 Assignment; Successors and Assigns. Neither Daniel, DRS nor the City may 
transfer or assign any of its respective rights, benefits, interests or obligations under this 
Agreement to any third party without first obtaining the prior written consent and approval of the 
other parties, which consent may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the other 
parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the City, Daniel 
and DRS and their permitted successors and assigns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Daniel shall 
have the right at any time and from time to time to transfer and assign its Right of First Offer to 
any entity in which Daniel is the managing member. 

8.05 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any 
person or circumstances shall be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the application of such 
provisions to other persons or circumstances and the remainder of this Agreement shall not be 
affected thereby and shall be enforced to the greatest extent permitted by law.  

8.06 Time. Time is of the essence in this Agreement and in each and all of the 
provisions hereof. Whenever a period of days is specified in this Agreement, such period shall 
refer to calendar days unless otherwise expressly stated in this Agreement. 

8.07 Defined Terms and Marginal Headings. The headings and titles to the articles, 
sections and subsections of this Agreement are not a part of this Agreement and shall have no 
effect upon the construction or interpretation of any part of this Agreement. 

8.08 Authority. Daniel and DRS represent to the City as follows: that each of Daniel 
and DRS is duly organized and legally existing under the laws of the State of Alabama; each of 
Daniel and DRS has all requisite power and all governmental certificates of authority, licenses, 
permits, qualifications and other documentation to perform its obligations under this Agreement; 
and each person signing on behalf of Daniel and DRS is authorized to do so. The City represents 
to Daniel and DRS as follows: that the City is duly organized and legally existing under the laws 
of the State of Alabama; the City has all requisite power and all governmental certificates of 
authority, licenses, permits, qualifications and other documentation to perform its obligations 
under this Agreement; and each person signing on behalf of the City is authorized to do so. 

8.09 Force Majeure. Whenever a period of time is herein prescribed for action to be 
taken by the City, or Daniel or DRS, the party taking the action shall not be liable or responsible 
for, and there shall be excluded from the computation for any such period of time, any delays 
due to strikes, riots, acts of God, shortages of labor or materials, war, governmental laws, 
regulations or restrictions or any other causes of any kind whatsoever which are beyond the 
control of such party (collectively, “Force Majeure”); provided, however, that, the term “Force 
Majeure” shall not (a) include the inability of any party hereto to obtain financing or funding to 
satisfy any of its obligations under this Agreement and (b) extend to or apply to the extent the 
City elect to terminate the Term pursuant to Section 7.02 above.  



20 
1/2596074.4 

8.10 Consents and Approvals. Any consents or approvals required of the City under 
this Agreement may be given or withheld on reasonable commercial standards, unless this 
Agreement otherwise expressly provides. The City agrees to act promptly upon any approval 
requested by Daniel or DRS, such that under ordinary circumstances the City will notify Daniel 
or DRS of its decision within not more than ten (10) business days after receipt of any such 
request unless otherwise provided herein; provided, however, that any action or approval by the 
City shall be subject to such time periods as may be required for approval of such action by the 
City Council of the City.  

8.11 Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of any legal action or proceeding brought by any 
party against any of the other parties arising out of this Agreement, the defaulting party shall be 
responsible for all attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses incurred by the non-defaulting parties in 
such action (including, without limitation, all costs of appeal), and such amount shall be included 
in any judgment rendered in such proceeding.  

8.12 Entire Agreement; Amendment.  Each Exhibit and Schedule attached hereto is 
made a part of this Agreement for all purposes. This Agreement contains all of the agreements of 
the parties hereto with respect to any matter covered or mentioned in this Agreement and no 
prior agreement, understanding or representation pertaining to any such matter shall be effective 
for any purpose. No provision of this Agreement may be amended or added to except by an 
agreement in writing signed by the parties hereto. 

8.13 Dispute Resolution.  Daniel, DRS and the City covenant and agree with each 
other that any and all claims, disputes, controversies or disagreements between the parties with 
respect to the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be subject to mediation before a 
mutually accepted mediator selected by Daniel or DRS and the City.  

8.14 No Partnership and No Third Party Beneficiaries.  Nothing contained in this 
Agreement and no action by the parties hereto will be deemed or construed to create the 
relationship of principal and agent, or a partnership, or a joint venture or any association between 
or among any of the parties hereto. 

8.15 Compliance with Laws.  Each of Daniel, DRS and the City shall perform all of 
their respective obligations under this Agreement in accordance with all applicable federal, state, 
county and local governmental laws, ordinances, statutes, code provisions, rules, regulations and 
requirements.  

8.16 Standard of Care. The City acknowledges that Daniel is not licensed as an 
architect, engineer, attorney, land planner, accountant, general contractor or other licensed 
professional and that the scope of its services hereunder is not intended and does not include any 
portion of the scope of services generally covered by any such professionals. The standards for 
performance by Daniel of its services hereunder shall not extend to or include the skills, 
judgment and expertise required of such professionals and Daniel shall not therefore be liable 
hereunder for errors or omissions in the services to be or which should be provided by those 
professionals. In the performance of its obligations hereunder, Daniel agrees to exercise prudent, 
good faith efforts at all times in the performance of its services hereunder.  



21 
1/2596074.4 

  
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Daniel and the City have executed this Agreement as of the 

day and year first above written. 
 
 
DANIEL CORPORATION, an Alabama corporation 
 
 
 
By:        
Printed Name:        
Its:           
 
 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS,  ALABAMA, an Alabama 
municipal corporation 
 
 
 
By:         
Printed Name:        
Its:            
 
 
 
By:         
Printed Name:        
Its:            
 



22 
1/2596074.4 

CONSENT OF DRS 
 

 DRS hereby joins in the execution of this Agreement in order to acknowledge and 
agree to all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement  
 
 Dated as of the  ______ day of _________________________, 2014. 
 
 

Daniel Realty Services, L.L.C., an Alabama 
limited liability company  
 
By: Daniel Realty Corporation, an Alabama 
Corporation, Its Manager 
 
 
 
By:        
Printed Name:        
Its:           
 
 
 

 
  



23 
1/2596074.4 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of BOE Property 

 



24 
1/2596074.4 

EXHIBIT B 

Legal Description of City Property 



25 
1/2596074.4 

EXHIBIT C 

Site Plan Reflecting “Current Site” and “New Site” for Northport Property  

 



26 
1/2596074.4 

EXHIBIT D 

Time Table 



27 
1/2596074.4 

ATTACHMENT “I” 

Insurance 
 
 Any contractors undertaking of any Infrastructure work shall maintain insurance policies 
in accordance with the terms and provisions outlined in Attachment “I” attached hereto and 
incorporated herein (unless otherwise approved in writing by the City): 
 
 1. Minimum Scope of Insurance  --  Coverage shall be at least as broad as the 
following: 
 
  A. Commercial General Liability Insurance:  Shall be written on ISO 
occurrence form CG 00 01 (or a substitute form providing equivalent coverage ) and shall cover 
liability arising from premises, operations, independent contractors, products-completed 
operations, personal injury and liability assumed under an insured contract (including the tort 
liability of another assumed in a business contract). If a 1973 edition ISO form must be used by 
the insurer, the broad form comprehensive general liability (BFCGL) endorsement shall be 
included.  Additionally, the policy shall not contain a sunset provision, commutation clause or 
any other provision which would prohibit the reporting of a claim and the subsequent defense 
and indemnity that would normally be provided by the policy.  The policy of insurance shall 
contain or be endorsed to include the following: 
 
   (i) Premises/Operations; 
 
   (ii) Products/Completed Operations; 
 
   (iii) Contractual; 
 
   (iv) Independent Contractors; 
 
   (v) Broad form property damage; 
 
   (vi) Personal and Advertising Injury; 
 
   (vii) Separation of Insureds (Severability of Interest); 
 

(viii) The policy shall be endorsed using ISO form CG 20 10 11 85 (or a 
substitute form providing equivalent coverage) so as to include the 
City and Daniel as Additional Insureds on a Primary and Non-
contributory basis. The coverage shall contain no special 
limitations on the scope of protection afforded to said Additional 
Insured. 

 
(ix) Waiver of subrogation shall be provided to the benefit of all 

Additional Insureds, as aforesaid. 
 
   (x) No XCU (explosion, collapse, underground) exclusion. 



28 
1/2596074.4 

 
(xi) For any claims related herein, the contractor’(s) insurance shall be 

primary and non-contributory respecting the aforesaid Additional 
Insureds.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the 
aforesaid Additional Insureds shall be in excess of the contractors’ 
insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

 
(xii) The policy shall not contain any provision, definition, or 

endorsement which would serve to eliminate third-party action 
over claims. 

 
(xiii) The policy shall not be endorsed to include ISO endorsement form 

CG 24 26 or any similar provision. 
 
(xiv) Self-funded, or other non-risk transfer insurance mechanism are 

not acceptable to the City. 
 
 
  B. Automobile Liability Insurance:  As specified by ISO form number CA 
0001, Symbol I (any auto), with an MCS 90 endorsement and a CA 99 48 endorsement attached 
if hazardous materials or waste are to be transported.  This policy shall be endorsed to include 
the City and Daniel as Additional Insureds, and to include waiver of subrogation to the benefit of 
all Additional Insureds, as aforesaid. 
 
  C. Workers' Compensation Insurance:  As required by the State or 
Commonwealth in which work is being done, and in accordance with any applicable Federal 
laws, including Employer's Liability Insurance and/or Stop Gap Liability coverage as per below 
limits.  Where not otherwise prohibited by law, this policy shall be endorsed to include waiver of 
subrogation to the benefit of the City and Daniel. 
 

D. Employer's Liability and/or Stop Gap Liability Coverage: Coverages 
per accident, disease-policy limit, and disease each employee. 

 
 
  E. Errors and Omissions Professional Liability Insurance:  Coverage 
should be for a professional error, act or omission arising out of the Purchaser's performance of 
work hereunder. The policy form may not exclude coverage for Bodily Injury, Property Damage, 
claims arising out of laboratory analysis, pollution or the operations of a treatment facility, to the 
extent these items are applicable under the scope of work hereunder.  This policy shall be 
endorsed to include waiver of subrogation to the benefit of the City and Daniel.  If coverage is on 
a claims-made form, Purchaser shall maintain continuous coverage or exercise an extended 
discovery period for a period of no less than five (5) years from the time that the work hereunder 
has been completed. 
 
 



29 
1/2596074.4 

  F. Environmental Impairment Insurance:  Covering damage to the 
environment, both sudden and non-sudden, caused by the emission, disposal, release, seepage, or 
escape of smoke, vapors, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, toxic chemicals, liquid or gases, waste 
materials or other irritants, contaminants or pollutants, into or upon land, the atmosphere or any 
water course or body of water; or the generation of odor, noises, vibrations, light, electricity, 
radiation, changes in temperature, or any other sensory phenomena.  Such insurance shall contain 
or be endorsed to include: 
 

(i) Property damage, including loss of use, injury to or destruction of 
property; 

 
(ii) Cleanup costs which shall include operations designed to analyze, 

monitor, remove, remedy, neutralize, or clean up any released or 
escaped substance which has caused environmental impairment or 
could cause environmental impairment if not removed, neutralized 
or cleaned up. 

 
(iii) Personal injury, which shall include bodily injury, sickness, 

disease, mental anguish, shock or disability sustained by any 
person, including death resulting therefrom. 

 
(iv) The City and Daniel should be added as Additional Insureds, on a 

primary and non-contributory basis. 
 
(v) Waiver of Subrogation in favor of the City and Daniel. 
 

If the Environmental Impairment Insurance is on a claims-made form, the contractor(s) shall 
maintain continuous coverage or exercise on an extended discovery period for a period of no less 
than five (5) years from the time that the work hereunder has been completed. 
 
 2. Minimum Limits of Insurance -- The contractor(s) shall maintain limits no less 
than: 
 
  A. Commercial General Liability:  Including Umbrella Liability Insurance, 
if necessary, limits shall be not less than $2,000,000 each occurrence for bodily injury and 
property damage; $2,000,000 each occurrence and aggregate for products and completed 
operations; $4,000,000 general aggregate.  The limits and coverage requirements may be revised 
at the option of the City, except as the parties agree otherwise. 
 
  B. Automobile Liability Insurance:  Including Umbrella Liability 
Insurance, if necessary, limits shall be not less than $2,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and 
property damage, $5,000,000 if hazardous materials or substances are to be transported. 
 
  C. Workers' Compensation:  As required by the State or Commonwealth in 
which the work will be performed, and as required by any applicable Federal laws. 
 



30 
1/2596074.4 

  D. Employer's Liability and/or Stop Gap Liability Coverage: $1,000,000 
per accident, $1,000,000 disease-policy limit, and $1,000,000 disease each employee. (May 
include Umbrella coverage.) 
 
  E. Errors and Omissions Professional Liability Insurance:  (If 
applicable) $2,000,000 per loss; $4,000,000 annual aggregate limit.  
 
   F. Environmental Impairment Insurance:  (If applicable)  $5,000,000 
combined single limit per loss except as the Parties agree otherwise. 
 
 3. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions  --  All insurance coverage carried by 
contractor(s) shall extend to and protect the City and Daniel to the full amount of such coverage, 
and all deductibles and/or self-insured retentions (if any), including those relating to defense 
costs, are the sole responsibility of contractor(s). 
 
 4. Rating of Insurer  --  Contractor(s) will only use insurance companies acceptable 
to the City and authorized to do business in the state or area in which the evaluated by the most 
current A.M. Best rating guide.  If the insurer has a rating less than an A-, Class VII, the 
contractor must receive specific written approval from the City prior to proceeding.   
 

6. Other Insurance Provisions 
 
  A. Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be endorsed to state 
that coverage shall not be suspended, voided, canceled by either party, reduced in coverage or in 
limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, 
has been given to the City. 
 
  B. These insurance provisions are intended to be a separate and distinct 
obligation on the part of each contractor.  Therefore, these provisions shall be enforceable ,and 
each contractor shall be bound thereby regardless of whether or not indemnity provisions are 
determined to be enforceable in the jurisdiction in which the work covered hereunder is 
performed. 
 
  C. The above-described insurance coverage to be provided by contractor(s) 
hereunder will extend coverage to all work or services performed hereunder. 
 
  D. The obligation of the contractor(s) to provide the insurance herein above 
specified shall not limit in any way the liability or obligations assumed by the contractor(s) 
hereunder.  
 
  E. In the event the contractor(s), or its insurance carrier defaults on any 
obligations hereunder, such contractor(s) agree that they will be liable for all reasonable 
expenses and attorneys' fees incurred by the City to enforce the provisions hereunder. 
 



31 
1/2596074.4 

 7. Evidence of Coverage 
 
  A. Contractor(s) shall furnish the City with copies of the endorsements 
effecting the coverage required by this specification.  Additionally, prior to the commencement 
of any work or services on the Property, the contractor(s) and all subcontractors, if any, shall 
furnish to the City satisfactory Certificates of Insurance evidencing full compliance with the 
requirements herein. The Certificates of Insurance must show that the required insurance is in 
force, the amount of the carrier's liability thereunder, and must further provide that the City will 
be given thirty (30) days advance written notice of any cancellation of coverage or deletion of 
the certificate holder herein as an Additional Insured under the policies.   
 
  B. All Certificates of Insurance shall be in form and content acceptable to the 
City and shall be submitted to the City in a timely manner so as to confirm full compliance with 
the stated insurance requirements hereunder.  
 
  C. Any failure on the part of the City to pursue or obtain the Certificates of 
Insurance required hereunder from any contractor(s) and/or the failure of the City to point out 
any non-compliance of such Certificates of Insurance shall not constitute a waiver of any of the 
insurance requirements hereunder, nor relieve any contractor(s) of any of its obligations or 
liabilities hereunder.  Moreover, acceptance by the City of insurance submitted by any 
contractor(s) does not relieve or decrease in any manner the liability of the contractor(s) for 
performance hereunder.  The contractor(s) are responsible for any losses, claims, and/or costs of 
any kind which their insurance does not cover. 
 

D.  In addition to its other remedies, the City may, at its sole option and 
without liability to any contractor(s), suspend the work and/or exclude the contractor(s) 
from the Property until such contractor(s) furnishes satisfactory evidence of its full 
compliance with the provisions hereunder. 
 
 8. Subcontractors  -- All contractors(s) shall be responsible to obtain separate 
certificates from each subcontractor.  All coverages for subcontractors shall be subject to all of 
the requirements stated herein. 
 

 



Ordinance Number 2498 
Page 1 of 3 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2498 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AND ENACTING A NEW CODE OF 
ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 
ALABAMA; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF CERTAIN 
ORDINANCES NOT INCLUDED THEREIN; PROVIDING A 
PENALTY FOR THE VIOLATION THEREOF; PROVIDING FOR 
THE MANNER OF AMENDING SUCH CODE; AND PROVIDING 
WHEN SUCH CODE AND THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BECOME 
EFFECTIVE 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills in the State 

of Alabama, as follows: 

 Section 1.  That code entitled “The Code of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama” 

consisting of Chapters 1-17, each inclusive, is adopted. 

 Section 2.  All ordinances of a general and permanent nature enacted on or before 

August 26, 2013 and not included in the Code or recognized and continued in force by 

reference therein, are repealed.  

 Section 3.  The repeal provided for in Section 2 hereof shall not be construed to 

revive any ordinance or part thereof that has been repealed by a subsequent ordinance 

that is repealed by this Ordinance. 

 Section 4.  Unless another penalty is expressly provided, every person convicted 

of a violation of any provision of the Code or any ordinance, rules or regulation adopted 

or issued in pursuance thereof shall be punished by a fine of not less than $1.00 nor more 

than $500.00 or by imprisonment at hard labor for not exceeding six months or by both 

such fine and imprisonment.  Each act or violation and each day upon which any such 

violation shall occur shall constitute a separate offense.  The penalty provided by this 

section, unless another penalty is expressly provided, shall apply to the amendment of 

any Code section, whether or not such penalty is reenacted in the amendatory ordinances.  



Ordinance Number 2498 
Page 2 of 3 

 
In addition to the penalty prescribed above, the city may pursue other remedies such as 

abatement of nuisances, injunctive relief and revocation of licenses or permits. 

 Section 5.  Additions and amendments to the Code when passed in such form as to 

indicate the intention of the City Council to make the same a part of the Code shall be 

deemed to be incorporated in the Code, so that reference to the Code includes the 

additions and amendments. 

 Section 6.  Ordinances adopted after August 26, 2013 that amend or refer to 

ordinances that have been codified in the Code shall be construed as they amend or refer 

to like provisions of the Code. 

 Section 7.  If any section or provision of this Ordinance shall be held invalid, such 

holding shall not affect the validity of any other section or provision thereof which is not 

of itself invalid. 

 Section 8.  This Ordinance Number 2498 shall become effective immediately 

upon adoption and posting/publication as required by Alabama law. 

 DONE, ORDERED and APPROVED this the 14th day of April, 2014. 

 
 
 

     Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2498 
Page 3 of 3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca H. Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2498 is a true 
and correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City 
of Vestavia Hills on the 14th day of April, 2014 as same appears in the official records of 
said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 


	2014_0414CC_A
	Proclamation Prayer
	Proclamation MADD
	2014_0318CC_special
	2014_0320CC_M mm
	2014_0324CC_M
	Resolution 4569
	Ordinance 2486
	Resolution 4570
	Ordinance 2487
	Resolution 4571
	Ordinance 2488
	Resolution 4572
	Ordinance 2489
	Resolution 4573
	Ordinance 2490
	Resolution 4574
	Ordinance 2491
	Resolution 4575
	Ordinance 2492
	Resolution 4576
	Ordinance 2493
	Resolution 4578
	Resolution 4579
	Resolution 4583
	Resolution 4584
	Ordinance 2496
	Ordinance 2497
	Ordinance 2494
	Ordinance 2495
	Resolution 4580
	Ordinance 2498



